Annual Report 2007

Thenergo (Alternext Paris: ALTHE) is an international renewable energy company
specialised in the decentralised generation of electricity and heat for industrial
partners and third-party customers or for sale on external power exchanges.
The Company is positioned as a multi-fuel green utility company, developing and
operating an energy network using feedstocks such as biomass, biogas, natural
gas, bio-oils, wood and secondary fuels. The Company is a one-stop provider of
innovative, competitive and proven renewable energy solutions applying its indepth engineering capabilities from initial concept design through to the final selling
of electricity.
Thenergo is a forward-thinking, proactive and innovative company that combines
waste management solutions with renewable energy production. Thenergo helps
its project partners save on fuel, money and emissions with one aim in mind:
building a greener future.
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1. Consolidated Key Figures 2007
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25,3
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Amounts in thousands of €
2007

Operating income
Revenues

%

20.987

2006*

%

3.787

2005

%

1.303

20.810

100%

3.738

100%

1.299

100%

-18.472

-89%

-3.360

-90%

-1.325

-102%

Recurring EBITDA

2.515

12%

427

11%

-22

-2%

Depreciation and amortisation

-1.696

-8%

-362

-10%

-150

-12%

Recurring EBIT

819

4%

65

2%

-172

-13%

Financial result

65

Operating expenses

Share of result of associates
Income tax (expense)/income

227

102

1.627

-204

Recurring profit

2.738

Share-based payment expense

-1.880

Profit

105

858

-146

276

13%

68

2%

-42

-3%

4%

68

2%

-42

-3%

Attributable to :
Equity holders of Thenergo

-60

-284

-158

Minority interests

919

352

116

* The 2006 figures as published were restated in order to reflect the changes in accounting policies (see note 2) as well as the
finalisation of the Polargen purchase accounting (see note 5).

2007

2006

2005

Headcount*

190

13

5

Operational sites (in MWe)*

63,3

21,1

6,8

Operational sites (in MWth)*

185,5

25,3

8,5

Equity

122.473

5.580

481

Balance sheet total

186.047

29.351

6.252

66%

19%

8%

(5.497)

6.171

2.850

Solvency**
Net debt

* at year end
** Solvency = equity/total equity and liabilities
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2. CEO and chairman’s statement
A breakthrough year for renewable energy
Increasing environmental concerns, particularly with respect to greenhouse gases and global warming, have
resulted in increasing demand for alternatives to the traditional and polluting fossil fuels. The exhaustible
nature of traditional energy sources and the rising energy demand have resulted in inflated energy prices. As
we write this introduction, the price of a barrel of Brent oil has risen to 117 USD, up from 60 USD at the start
of 2007.
Furthermore, many European countries are net importers of energy from traditional energy reserves located in
countries with a potentially unstable political climate.
Renewable Energy Sources offer a solution to these issues. They reduce the emission of greenhouse gases,
have an overall smaller environmental impact, are cost-effective compared to traditional sources and cannot
be depleted.
In light of these facts and in combination with rising energy prices, many governments have made the security
of energy supply a political priority. The European Union has renewed and strengthened its commitment to the
Kyoto Protocol by proposing a national renewable energy directive that would result in the following overall
targets by 2020 (in relation to 2005):
A 20% increase in energy efficiency
A 20% reduction in greenhouse gas emissions
A 20% share of renewables in overall EU energy consumption
A 10% biofuel component in vehicle fuel
As a renewable energy provider, Thenergo offers a long-term sustainable alternative to help meet these targets,
in turn laying the foundation for a greener future.
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A landmark year for Thenergo
Thenergo is a young company with grand ambitions. Founded in 2002 as Energo, our real start as an independent
company took place with our Alternext Paris listing on 14 June 2007. The fact that we were able to raise 70
million € based on our business model was an act of faith on behalf of our existing and new shareholders. With
revenues of 20,8 million € (x 5,5 compared to 2006), recurring EBITDA of 2,5 million € (x 5,9) and net profit of
0,86 million € (x 12,6). Thenergo has proven it can execute a sustainable growth strategy.
Our operational track record clearly demonstrates why 2007 has been a landmark for our company. During the
year Thenergo completed 12 new Combined Heat and Power (CHP) projects, bringing to 22 the total number
of plants in operation, tripling its total electricity portfolio in 12 months.
At the end of 2007 our gross installed capacity rose to 63,3 MWe, up from 21,1 MWe in 2006. Projects under
construction stood at 33 MWe, while a further 432 MWe is in the pipeline for future development. Over the
same year, our heat production capacity grew from 25.3 MWth to 185,5 MWth.
Our total workforce, due to internal growth as well as acquisitions, stood at 190 at the end of 2007, up from 13
a year earlier. We believe the quality of our staff is the key success factor in our business moving forward. We
would like to thank each and every one of them for their bright ideas and hard work.
Thenergo’s Board and Management Team trusts that the information provided in this annual report will
strengthen the confidence in our company and strategic direction. We thank all our partners, customers and
shareholders for their continued support and commitment.

Jacques Putzeys*
Chairman of the board of directors

Kurt Alen*
Chief Executive Officer

* for SRL APS Risk

* for Ninety1 Solutions Comm. V.
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3. The making of Thenergo
Under its original name, Energo NV was founded in March 2002, and was positioned as a biomass specialist in
the renewable energy sector, and a developer of combined heat and power (CHP) projects.
In February 2006, Theolia SA became a majority shareholder (57%) in Energo and in July 2006 increased its
shareholding to 91% via share purchases from other shareholders. Also in 2006, Energo was renamed Theolia
Benelux NV.
In December 2006, Theolia Benelux NV took a 51% stake in Polargen, a Benelux based developer and operator
of CHP plants in the industrial greenhouse sector.
Having decided to separate its non-wind assets, Theolia listed its CHP and biomass assets in June 2007 on
Alternext Paris, renaming the company Thenergo NV.

Polargen – Groeikracht
stands for projects where
a greenhouse owner and
Thenergo join forces in
developing a CHP project
based on the energy needs
of the grower.
The CHP plant is
dimensioned based on the
demand for heat, electricity
and CO2.

Leysen’s core activities
include collection, pretreatment and treatment of
waste in the Benelux region,
and biomass for energy,
biomass application, investing
in projects and companies in
the field of renewable energy
on a more global scale.
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Following the listing, Thenergo NV has been active in building up its project portfolio through organic and
external growth.
In September 2007, it acquired Leysen, a Belgian waste management group, with two core activities:
• Organic Waste Procurement solutions for agri-businesses, industry, regional authorities and ports in
the Benelux area;
• Upstream Logistics activities including waste collection, sorting, treatment and processing for energy
recovery.
Leysen is also active in the development of Jatropha oil as fuel for CHP units.
In November 2007 Thenergo NV acquired the remaining minority share (49%) of Polargen via a share swap.
In December 2007 Thenergo NV acquired a majority stake in ENRO, a German biomass CHP developer and
operator. ENRO has an operating portfolio of 13,7 MWe (electrical) and 127 MWth (thermal). The portfolio
contains two biomass CHP plants fuelled by fresh cut and waste wood, generating a total of 13,7 MW electrical
power and 23 MW thermal power. ENRO also co-owns and co-operates the heat distribution company,
supplying industrial and residential clients. Additionally, ENRO brings valued expertise in the field of Rankine
Cycle engineering to Thenergo and secures a strong commercial foothold in Europe’s most fertile renewable
energy market. In March 2008 ENRO AG was rebranded to tse AG or Thenergo sustainable energy AG.

Elsterwerda biomass CHP plant
Acquired in November 2006 through
ENRO, Elsterwerda is a waste wood
fueled CHP plant, supplied via long-term
contracts with the construction industry
and municipalities. Heat generated is
supplied to the public utility in Elsterwerda.
The steam turbine generates a maximum
electricity output of 12 MW which is fed
into the public power grid. Extra capacity
can be used to supply future customers
without additional investments.
The ENRO figures are not yet included in the 2007 financials.
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4. Thenergo’s business model
The energy generation facilities of Thenergo are based on Combined Heat and Power (CHP) technology. In
traditional generation facilities, the generated heat that results from the electricity generation process is
unused and lost. In a CHP facility, this heat is largely recuperated and used for other applications, thereby
increasing the energy efficiency and economical profitability of the installation.
The Company works with agricultural and industrial partners using its proven experience in designing,
engineering, constructing, integrating, operating and financing renewable energy projects. This renewable
energy value chain provides tailor-made energy solutions to customers in the 1 MWe to 50 MWe project range.
The energy is generated in decentralized power units housed on or close to the project partner’s operations.
Thenergo differentiates itself in the market by operating under a fully integrated business model. The Company
manages the different steps in the value chain in order to help its partners optimise performance and minimise
risk.
Thenergo’s activities include:

Project Development
The initial project phase encompasses project analysis and concept engineering. Proper project development
ensures optimisation of the feedstock and the project’s future economic performance.
Thenergo has extensive experience and skills in a broad range of renewable energy technologies and has a
comprehensive understanding of technology applications and efficiencies. Our projects are based on proven
and reliable technologies using alternative green energy sources to replace conventional fossil fuels.
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The Company further manages the complex authorisation process, entailing environmental and safety
compliance of proven control and operating technologies and brings extensive knowledge of best practices in
permitting, compliance and emissions control technology to the individual projects.
For site construction and installation Thenergo uses experienced subcontractors.

Project Financing
Thenergo finances or co-finances partner projects, partly with its own funds and partly through external debt.
Thenergo also brings financial and debt-structuring know-how to the individual projects.

Fuels & Logistics
As a pioneer in multi-fuel solutions, Thenergo expects to benefit from the shift to replace conventional fuels by
alternative/renewable energy sources.
Through its in-house fuel and logistics management activities, Thenergo pursues procuring long-term fuel
security at best possible tariffs. Today, Thenergo focuses on five principal feedstock fuels:
• Biogas – a renewable substitute for natural gas;
• Bio-oil – a “dense”, renewable and flexible fuel;
• Natural gas – a clean and flexible transition fuel;
• Woody biomass – a high volume green energy source for local cogeneration;
• Secondary (recovered) fuels – a clean energy solution for recycled industrial and municipal waste.
Feedstock such as livestock manure can also become a valuable by-product post energy production. As a
recycled fuel, it can be reintegrated as clean fuel or sold as green fertiliser pellets.

Operational Management
Thenergo, as an operator, is contracted by its project companies to assume overall operational and maintenance
responsibilities.

Energy Portfolio Management
Energy Portfolio Management is based on Thenergo’s in-house monitoring system and on an internet based
trading system from which Thenergo can access European energy markets to trade electricity. The combination
of both platforms allows Thenergo to deliver lower energy costs to partners while maximising revenues from
matching peak loads and demands for energy.
Green and CHP certificates are contracted on a bilateral basis.
Since Thenergo has access to its own energy production facilities and does not take open positions, this
activity does not result in speculative risks.
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5. Thenergo’s waste management activities
Following the acquisition of the Leysen group in September 2007, Thenergo entered into waste management
activities both in the public and industrial market. The acquisition of the Leysen group was of strategic
importance as it ensures access to secondary fuels, allowing Thenergo to further diversify its feedstock.
The total treatment of waste amounts to 196.424 tonnes in 2007, of which about 148.006 tonnes could
eventually serve as fuel for future CHP plants. The most important waste categories treated are: paper-related
waste (48.000 tonnes), mixed waste from SMEs (44.000 tonnes), bio-waste (42.000 tonnes) and stones and
sand (40.000 tonnes).
In addition to guaranteeing access to secondary fuels, the Leysen group also generates a high growth
waste management business and herewith delivers a significant contribution to the recurring revenues and
margins.

Public sector market
Through Leysen, Thenergo became active in the consulting and analysis of waste and on-site waste services,
the collection, transport, sorting, pre-treatment of waste and the treatment and final disposal of waste (reuse,
recycling, recovery, physical-chemical treatment, incineration and landfill).

Industrial market
Thenergo also provides such services as consulting and collecting all types of waste at industrial premises.
This includes the recycling, recovery and disposal of industrial waste, as well as a number of more specific
industrial services. To this respect, long-term contracts have been concluded with important industrial players
in this field.
Besides the management and treatment of residual waste flows, Thenergo also offers integrated solutions for
selectively collected materials such as paper, cardboard, wood, plastics, metal packaging and organic waste
(e.g. green waste, sludges, fruit, vegetable and garden waste).

Waste-to-Energy
One of the most important synergies of the Leysen group acquisition is the possible use of collected waste as
a source of fuel for the production of electricity and heat. Today Thenergo foresees a number of projects in its
project portfolio pipeline that will run on this type of fuel.

Trading
Through the acquisition of the Leysen group, Thenergo is also active in the trading of waste. For profitable
trading, one needs:
• Sufficient material: continuous supply at stable prices;
• Knowledge of the national and international (mostly worldwide) market;
• Knowledge of the procedures for international trading of such products (documentary credit, shipment of
containers,…).
Thenergo is in this respect organised in two departments, one for trading of secondary materials and waste
products and a second one for trading of energetic mono streams.
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With respect to trading, Thenergo is active in:
• The trading of secondary materials like plastic, cardboard, paper… which is sold within Europe, but most
of all to the Far East; via its former branch “Asia Leysen” where it formed close partnerships (China, Hong
Kong…);
• Energetic mono streams like wood waste and pure plant oil from the agro industry in tropical climates;
imported in Europe to use as secondary fuel (CO2-neutral) in power stations;
• The local trading of waste products by joining the volumes of small-sized colleagues, to reach an equally
high quota which makes negotiations with final processing companies easier. There is a “Waste exchange”
system in place with 4 colleagues based in the provinces of Antwerp, Limburg and Vlaams-Brabant.
Jatropha oil
Through the acquisition of the Leysen group, Thenergo has also ensured access to Jatropha oil, a type of fuel
categorised under bio-oils. Jatropha contributes to the success of other energy generating projects that belong
to Thenergo’s project portfolio as it secures long-term supply of non-controversial fuel for planned and future
renewable energy. The project allows to control costs with respect to the delivery of Jatropha oil by taking
control of the entire supply chain which includes nut production, delivery, crushing, treatment and shipping.
Both the oil and the residual press cake coming from the production process are fit to use as fuel for energy
generation. Thenergo has the possibility to develop parallel projects locally and exploit power plants fuelled
by the Jatropha biomass and power engines fuelled by the oil. In a first phase, however, Thenergo will use the
fuel in CHP-units in Europe.
Thenergo now has access to 49.000 ha of Jatropha nut plantations via agreed contracts with a term of 17 years.
On top of these existing agreements, negotiations are taking place for another 80.000 ha of plantation area.
The first Jatropha oil is scheduled to be delivered by early 2009.

Strategy with respect to Jatropha oil
Thenergo considers Jatropha oil to be a
relevant source of fuel for its project portfolio.
Taking into account the risks associated to
such innovating exploitation project, Thenergo
has decided that such project should be
evaluated on a stand-alone basis and separate
from Thenergo’s core activities. In this respect
the Company considers a potential spin-off of
its Jatropha activities under a separate unit.
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6. Thenergo’s operational sites and pipeline
Today, Thenergo has 22 sites in operation of which 15 sites are located in Belgium, 3 in the Netherlands and 4 in
Germany. The majority of the sites are currently CHP plants in the agricultural sector and are fuelled by natural
gas. The other plants are fuelled by biogas and wood.
All of Thenergo’s operational CHP plants together represent 63,3 MWe installed electric capacity (YE 2007),
which is the equivalent to the electricity needs for 80.000 households.
On top of the electricity, the current portfolio also produces 185,5 MWth thermal capacity, which is an important
additional source of revenues.

Operational sites
Stake

Gross Electric
capacity MWe

Nominal Thermal
capacity MWth

Biogas

50%

1,4

1,7

Dec/2006

Natural gas

96%

5,2

6,5

Aug/2005

Belgium

Natural gas

25%

1,8

2,1

Jun/2006

Netherlands

Natural gas

30%

4,0

4,4

Feb/2007
May/2007

Project name

Country

Fuel

Biocogen BVBA

Belgium

Groeikracht Boechout NV

Belgium

Groeikracht Broechem NV
Groeikracht Butenpole BV

Completion
Date

Groeikracht De Blackt NV

Belgium

Natural gas

30%

2,0

2,5

Groeikracht De Boskapel NV

Belgium

Natural gas

51%

2,0

2,5

Apr/2008

Groeikracht De Markvallei NV

Belgium

Natural gas

100%

7,5

8,7

Aug/2006

Groeikracht Etten-Leur BV

Netherlands

Natural gas

30%

2,4

2,8

Feb/2006

Groeikracht Etten-Leur BV

Netherlands

Natural gas

30%

0,8

1,0

Nov/2007

Groeikracht Marvado NV

Belgium

Natural gas

51%

3,3

3,7

Jul/2007

Groeikracht Marveco NV

Belgium

Natural gas

51%

1,1

1,3

May/2007

Groeikracht Merksplas NV

Belgium

Natural gas

100%

2,8

3,5

Dec/2004

Groeikracht Pierstraat NV

Belgium

Natural gas

51%

1,1

1,3

Dec/2007

Groeikracht Rielbro NV

Belgium

Natural gas

30%

2,0

2,5

Dec/2007

Groeikracht Vremde NV

Belgium

Natural gas

51%

4,1

4,8

Dec/2007

Groeikracht Waver NV

Belgium

Natural gas

30%

1,7

2,1

Jul/2007

Groeikracht Wommelgem BVBA

Belgium

Natural gas

51%

2,6

3,0

Dec/2007

Groeikracht Zwarthout BVBA

Belgium

Natural gas

99%

3,5

4,1

Dec/2007

Ludwigsfelde biomass CHP plant

Germany

Wood

86%

1,5

11,2

Oct/2007

Elsterwerda biomass CHP plant

Germany

Wood

86%

12,2

12,0

2004

Ludwigsfelde heat plant

Germany

Natural gas

43%

0,0

100,0

1995

Stadtwerk Elsterwerda heat plant

Germany

Natural gas

43%

0,0

3,8

1996

63

185,5

Totals
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1

2

Natural gas

Biogas

48

161

wood

14

23

Sites under construction
Thenergo currently has 11 sites under construction, of which 8 located in Belgium, 2 in the Netherlands and 1
in Germany:
Project name

Country

Fuel

Binergy Ieper NV

Belgium

Biogas

Binergy Meer

Belgium

Biogas / Jatropha

Valmass NV

Belgium

Greenpower QEF NV

Stake

Gross Electric
capacity MWe

Nominal Thermal
capacity MWth

Projected
Completion Date

75%

3,3

3,9

Dec/2008

100%

6,5

5,5

Oct/2009

Biogas

60%

1,7

1,9

Jun/2008

Belgium

Jatropha

52%

9,0

6,0

March/2009

Groeikracht Abelebaan

Belgium

Natural gas

51%

2,0

2,5

Dec/2008

Groeikracht Etten-Leur BV

Netherlands

Natural gas

30%

1,8

2,0

Jun/2008

Groeikracht Kegelslei

Belgium

Natural gas

51%

1,1

1,3

Dec/2008

Groeikracht Lierbaan NV

Belgium

Natural gas

51%

1,5

1,8

May/2008

Groeikracht Prinsenland BV

Netherlands

Natural gas

95%

3,6

3,9

Jun/2008

Groeikracht Hooikt NV

Belgium

Natural gas

100%

1,8

2,0

March/2009

Biogasanlage Beckum I

Germany

Biogas

Nov/2008

Totals

65%

0,7

0,8

33,0

31,6

Natural gas

12

13

Biogas

10

13

Oil

11

6

Project pipeline
In addition to the operational projects and sites under construction, Thenergo has also identified a significant
pipeline of future projects to be developed and implemented through 2011. This pipeline consists of identified
projects for building CHP plants with a diversity of the five different fuel types as discussed above. The pipeline
going forward has the following geographical split:

MWe
in%

Belgium

Netherlands

Germany

CE

Total

194,9

39,3

93,8

104,0

432,0

45%

9%

22%

24%

The total number of identified projects in the pipeline amount to an electrical capacity of about 432 MWe and
a thermal capacity of another 510 MWth. The Company estimates that it will execute a significant part of these
identified projects which will further diversify the Company’s portfolio with respect to the fuels used.
Grants and incentives
Today, the production of green energy is not price competitive compared to the standard energy production
for different reasons. Therefore national authorities have created incentive schemes within the context of EU
legislation.
Permits
Each decentralised energy production project requires permits such as an environmental permit and a
construction permit. Some larger projects first require an Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) to evaluate
their overall impact on the environment. The procedures to obtain the necessary permits vary in terms of
time and administration. However, Thenergo’s positive pro-active communication strategy and professional
approach mitigate the risk of potential delays.
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7. Board of directors and executive committee
Composition of the board of directors
As of May 2008, The board of directors consists of 7 members, 2 of which are executive directors and 5 of
which are non-executive directors, including 1 independent director.
Name

Principal Function
With The Company

Nature Of Directorship

Initially
Appointed

Term Expires

Srl Aps Risk, represented by
Mr. Jacques Putzeys

Chairman Of The Board Of
Directors

Non-Executive Director

13 July 2006

2012

Ninety1 Solutions Comm. V,
represented by Mr. Kurt Alen

Chief Executive Officer

Executive Director

4 October 2006

2012

Faracha Equities SA,
represented by
Mr. Jean-Marie Santander

Vice-Chairman Of The Board
Of Directors

Non-Executive Director

13 July 2006

2012

Sofinan BVBA, represented by
Mr. Norbert Van Leuffel

Director

Non-Executive Director

13 July 2006

2012

Centenary BVBA, represented by
Mr. Yves Leysen

Director

Executive Director

8 January 2008

2013

Mr. Olivier Dellacherie

Director

Independent Director

8 January 2008

2013

Mr. Stéphane Garino

Director

Non-Executive Director

7 May 2008

2014

Composition of
board of directors

Clockwise from left:
Norbert Van Leuffel,
Olivier Dellacherie,
Kurt Alen,
Yves Leysen,
Jacques Putzeys and
Jean-Marie Santander.
(Stéphane Garino
not pictured)
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Composition of the executive committee
The Company’s board of directors has established an executive committee on 10 December 2007. The
executive committee is not a directiecomité / comité de direction within the meaning of Article 524bis of the
Belgian Company Code. The current members of the executive committee are:
Name

Function

Year of birth

Ninety1 Solutions Comm. V, represented by Mr. Kurt Alen

CEO

1961

Mr. Christophe Van Nevel

Chief Financial Officer

1969

Belster BVBA, represented by Mr. Chris Beliën

General Counsel and Company Secretary

1958

Darts BVBA, represented by Mr. Davy Ringoot

Chief Technology Officer

1972

G.F. Land Beheer B.V., represented by Mr. Gerrit Land

Business Development Officer

1964

De Pooter Beheer BVBA, represented by Mr. Gunter de Pooter

Chief Operational Officer

1967

Centenary BVBA, represented by Mr. Yves Leysen

Business Development Officer

1959

Executive committee

Clockwise from left:
Chris Beliën,
Gerrit Land,
Kurt Alen,
Christophe Van Nevel,
Yves Leysen,
Davy Ringoot and
Gunter de Pooter.
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8. Directors report 2007
Revenues
Over 2007, Thenergo’s revenues have increased to 20,8 million € in 2007 from 3,7 million € in 2006 and 1,3
million € in 2005. The 2007 revenues increased with a multiplier of x 5,5 as compared to the 2006 revenues. This
significant increase is caused by both organic and non-organic growth.
Cost of Sales
The 2007 Cost of sales mainly relate to fuel costs, (mainly natural gas, 2,4 million €), project development costs
(5,6 million €) and waste management costs (3,8 million €).
Operating expenses
The 2007 operating expenses mainly relate to payroll expenses (2,3 million €), a non-cash share-based expense
(1,9 million €) and other operating costs (2,5 million €).
Recurring EBITDA
Thenergo’s Recurring EBITDA increased to 2,5 million € in 2007 as compared to 0,4 million € in 2006 and -0,002
million € in 2005. Besides the significant increase in absolute figures, the Recurring EBITDA margin also
increased to 12,1% in 2007 compared to 11,4% in 2006 and -1,7% in 2005.
Recurring EBIT
Thenergo’s Recurring EBIT increased to 0,8 million € in 2007 as compared to 0,1 million € in 2006 and -0,2
million € in 2005. Besides the significant increase in absolute figures, the Recurring EBIT margin also increased
to 3,9% in 2007 compared to 1,8% in 2006 and -13,2% in 2005.
Net Profit
Thenergo’s reported profit (after share-based expense) increased to 0,9 million € in 2007 as compared to 0,1
million € in 2006 and -0,04 million € in 2005. This implies a profit margin of 4,1% in 2007 versus 1,8% in 2006
and -3,2% in 2005. These profit figures include the share-based expense of 1,9 million €.
Human resources
On 31 December 2007 Thenergo had 190 employees, of which 30 are employed in Thenergo, 51 in ENRO and
109 in Leysen.
Within the employee population Thenergo has a pool of 29 engineers (or 15% of the total employees),
emphasising the expertise and know-how the group possesses with respect to concept engineering and
execution of new projects.
Thenergo believes the quality of its management and employees is a key success factor in its business.
The Management of the Company has a proven track record with respect to experience and skills. Also the
management of the prior acquisitions (Polargen, Leysen, ENRO) remained on board which ensures continuity
with respect to the business moving ahead. In the future, Thenergo will continue to recruit the best available
staff on the market.
Thenergo also pursues further centralisation of its support functions to realise synergies following the
acquisitions of 2007.
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Consolidated balance sheet
Note
Non-current assets
Goodwill
Intangible assets
Property. plant and equipment
Investments
Deferred tax assets

5.6

31/12/2007

31/12/2006*

31/12/2005

117.420

18.017

3.884

59.853

2.841

5.7

7.507

5.219

8.23

38.016

8.385

9

9.332

1.328

19

2.588

244

313

Other non-current assets

3.571

124

Current assets

68.627

11.334

2.368

Trade receivables

10

12.170

6.851

928

Other receivables

10

5.447

1.224

856

Inventories

205

135

Other current assets

20

980

280

2

Cash and cash equivalents

11

49.825

2.979

447

186.047

29.351

6.252

122.473

5.580

481

114.848

3.471

1.681

-1.386

-1.566

-1.450

1.247

3.675

250

Total assets

Equity
Share capital

12

Retained earnings
Share-based payments

16

Hedging reserves

20

Minority interests
Non-current liabilities

7.916
-152

39.158

6.873

2.213

Long-term borrowings

13

24.164

2.539

1.410

Leases

13

12.413

2.560

803

Deferred tax liabilities

19

2.581

1.774

Current liabilities

24.416

16.898

3.558

Short-term borrowings

13

6.990

3.820

1.043

Leases

13

885

231

41

Trade payables

14

13.039

7.333

1.395

Other payables

14

2.317

4.716

220

Other current liabilities

20

1.185

798

859

186.047

29.351

6.252

Total equity and liabilities

* The 2006 figures as published were restated in order to reflect the changes in accounting policies (see note 2) as well as the finalisation of the
Polargen purchase accounting (see note 5).

Assets
Goodwill increased to 59,9 million € in 2007 mainly linked to the acquisition of the Leysen Group, which
accounts for 53,8 million € of goodwill.
Property, plant and equipment assets increased to 38 million € in 2007 mainly caused by the 12 new projects
that were completed in the course of 2007 and the full consolidation of the Leysen Group.
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Intangible assets increased to 7,5 million € in 2007 relating to the allocation of 2,7 million € to waste service
contracts. The 2006 intangible assets of 5,2 million € fully relate to development contracts held by Polargen at
the time of its acquisition by Thenergo.
Investments increased to 9,3 million € in 2007 linked to the ENRO acquisition which in 2007 was accounted for
at acquisition cost.
Trade receivables increased to 12,2 million € mainly linked to the waste management activities following the
acquisition of the Leysen group.
On 31 December 2007 Thenergo holds a gross cash position of 49,8 million € compared to 3,0 million € at the
end of 2006 and 0,4 million € at the end of 2005. This cash position is part of the 70 million € of funds raised in
June 2007 on Alternext Paris.
Liabilities
Share Capital increased to 114,8 million € in 2007 mainly linked to the issuance of new shares with respect to
the 70 million € fund raising transaction on Alternext Paris and share issuances in the context of acquisitions.
Long-term borrowings increased to 24,2 million € at the end of 2007 linked to the different project financings
contracted at project company level for each of Thenergo’s CHP projects. Long-term leases increased to 12,4
million € at the end of 2007 also relating to the project financing on project company level.
Short-term borrowings increased to 7,0 million € at the end of 2007 linked to the reimbursement schedules of
the project financings in the different project companies.
Relevant capital structure ratios
Thenergo believes it has a sound capital structure as can be deducted from the relevant capital structure ratios
below:
In 000 €

2007

2006

122.473

5.580

481

-5.497 (net cash)

6.170

2.850

Net debt/equity

NA (net cash)

111%

593%

Net debt/EBITDA

NA (net cash)

14 x

NA

2005

Equity
Net debt

2005

Cash-Flow Statement
2007

2006

Cash flow from operating activities

221

-2.080

472

Cash flow from investing activities

-37.021

-5.031

-3.066

Cash flow from financing activities

83.646

9.643

2.977

46.846

2.532

383

2.979

447

64

49.825

2.979

447

Net cash flow for the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

Cash flow from operations increased to 0,2 million € in 2007 compared to -2,1 million € in 2006 and 0,5 million €
in 2005. The positive cash flow in 2007 is mainly linked to the higher number of operational CHP plants positively
contributing to the profitability and cash flow generation of Thenergo. This positive 0,2 million € cash flow is
reached despite the negative impact by change in working capital for 2,8 million € linked to the initiation of new
projects which have not been completed yet.
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Outlook for 2008 and beyond
As in the course of 2007 12 CHP projects were completed, Thenergo expects a higher revenue contribution in
2008 from these plants as not all 2007 completed CHP plants contributed to the 2007 revenues yet.
Thenergo expects to be able to develop and implement a significant number of its 432 MWe pipeline.
Thenergo will also continue to further pursue leveraging its profitability and will continue to respect its financial
criteria used for evaluating new investments and acquisitions and focus on profitable growth.
With respect to its waste activities, Thenergo expects to use a part of the waste as fuel for Thenergo’s own
projects. This should decrease dependency on external fuel suppliers and increase the profitability of the
concerned projects.
From time to time Thenergo is in discussion with or analysing potential acquisition targets. These targets
usually have activities in one or more areas of Thenergo’s business model.
Dividend policy
Thenergo is a growth company in a dynamic industry. Therefore, no dividends have been paid to shareholders
in the past, including 2007.

Thenergo is a forward-thinking,
proactive and innovative
company, delivering the best
possible sustainable energy
solutions to the market in order
to provide us all with a cleaner
future.

www.thenergo.eu | 21

9. Information for shareholders
Founded in 2002 and based in Antwerp, Belgium, Thenergo is a fast growing, fully integrated and independent
developer and operator of sustainable energy projects using biogas, natural gas, bio-oil, woody biomass and
secondary fuels.
Thenergo brings solutions and added value to clients’ energy needs, from financing and concept design to
procurement, operations management and energy sales on Europe’s power markets.
The recent acquisitions of Leysen, Polargen and ENRO have considerably strengthened Thenergo’s business
model. Today, Thenergo provides all of its companies, industry partners and customers with the synergies to
optimize every step of the value chain.
Since 14 June 2007, Thenergo has been listed on Alternext, Paris. (Ticker: ALTHE).
All information for shareholders may be found on: www.thenergo.eu or by contacting the Investor Relations
department at the following address:
Thenergo NV/SA
Investor Relations
Tel +32 (0) 3 292 97 01
investors@thenergo.eu
Gateway House
Brusselstraat 59
B-2018 Antwerp – Belgium

Shareholder calendar:
Listing date:
Full year results 2007:
General Shareholders Meeting 2007:
Half year results 2008:
Full year results 2008:
General Shareholders Meeting 2008:

14 June 2007
10 April 2008
7 May 2008 (18h)
28 August 2008
30 March 2009
6 May 2009

Thenergo
Eurostoxx 50

140%

Bel20
European
Renewable
Energy Index

120%

100%

80%

60%
June 2007
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August 2007

October 2007

December 2007

February 2008

April 2008

The following table reflects the Thenergo’s shareholding structure as per 30 April 2008.
(fully diluted)
Shareholder

Shares

% held

4.716.480

28,97%

980.892

6,02%

Former Leysen Shareholders

1.316.970

8,09%

Free Float

9.269.284

56,92%

16.283.626

100,00%

Theolia S.A.
Management and Board

TOTAL

Warrants
2.516.036

Shares

% held

4.716.480

22,60%

3.496.928

16,76%

1.316.970

6,31%

2.071.006

11.340.290

54,34%

4.587.042

20.870.668

100,00%

The Company issued 4.587.042 registered warrants, pursuant to a shareholders resolution on 23 April 2007
(the “Warrants 2007”). Each of the Warrants 2007 gives right to subscribe to one share in the Company.
A first category of 445.030 warrants (the “Warrants 1”) can be offered to all persons rendering professional
services to Thenergo as employee, director, consultant or other. All Warrants 1 have been offered.
A second category of 2.071.006 warrants (the “Warrants 2”) can be offered to all persons rendering professional
services to Thenergo as employee, director, consultant or other. To date, 1.970.716 Warrants 2 have been
offered.
A third category of 2.071.006 warrants (the “Warrants 3”) has been offered to Amsterdams Effectenkantoor
(AEK), upon decision of the board of directors. The Warrants 3 were part of the remuneration of AEK for the
70 million € private placement of the Company which took place as part of the listing of the Company on the
multilateral trading facility Alternext Paris in June 2007.
The stock option plan specifies that the price of the Warrants 2007 is 0,0001 €. All Warrants 2007 offered to
date, can be exercised at a price of 8,45 €.
The exercise price of the 100.290 Warrants 2007 which have not been offered shall be determined by the
Chairman of the board of directors upon their allocation, in accordance with the following rules:
•

the closing price of the shares on the date before the offer;

•

the average closing price of the 30 calendar days before the offer;

•

the Chairman of the board can determine a reduction of 10% to 40% on the prices determined according
to aforementioned methods (the exercise price, however, may not be lower than the par value of the
shares).

The Warrants 2007 can be exercised until 30 June 2012, and are transferable. The board of directors is entitled to
decide on the consequences for the non-exercised Warrants 2007 upon dismissal or departure of an employee,
director, or proxy holder because of serious cause, or any other reason. However, the board of directors does
not posses this discretionary right in case of death of the warrant holder or in case the Warrants 2007 have not
yet been exercised, but one or more of the sub-exercise periods for such warrants have already elapsed.
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1. Management report
This management report should be read in conjunction with Thenergo’s consolidated financial statements
ended 31 December 2007. All amounts are in thousands of €, unless explicitly stated differently.

1.1. Main transactions in 2006 and 2007
ACQUISITION OF POLARGEN ON 30 NOVEMBER 2006
On 30 November 2006 Thenergo acquired 51% of the Polargen Holding BV (“Polargen”) shares. Via its
subsidiaries and investments in associates Polargen designs and operates cogeneration (combined heat and
power – “CHP”) installations for agricultural and industrial partners in Belgium and the Netherlands. Polargen
holds an 11,66% interest in Groeikracht Merksplas NV and a 13,76% interest in Groeikracht Boechout NV. Since
Thenergo already held respectively 44,99% and 41,02% of the voting rights it obtained control over these
companies. As a result, these subsidiaries are fully consolidated as from 30 November 2006 while they were
proportionally consolidated before. The Polargen 51% purchase price amounted to 5.100 € in cash of which
1.530 € was paid during 2007.
Polargen was established in 2003 by Gunter de Pooter and Gerrit F. Land in ‘t Harde, the Netherlands. The
Polargen installations generate heat and electricity together, resulting in a much better usage of the energy
present in natural gas as compared to a separate generation of heat and electricity. The heat and the CO²
derived from the gas are used by the farmers to stimulate the growth of the crops. The produced electricity
is either used by the partner or sold to the grid. Polargen, via Thenergo, trades the green power and CHP
certificates that are derived from these installations.
Admission to the Alternext by EuronextTM Paris – Collection of 70.000 € of capital in
JUne 2007
Since 14 June 2007 the Thenergo shares are listed on Alternext by Euronext TM Paris (Code ISIN: BE0947217122).
In preparation of the Alternext admission, Thenergo raised 5.000 € capital with Qualified Investors by issuing
592.175 shares at 8,45 € per share. Immediately after the Alternext listing, Thenergo further increased its share
capital through a private placement of 65.000 € with Qualified Investors which was completed on 18 June 2007.
7.692.308 shares were issued at 8,45 € per share. Note 12 Share capital of the financial statements explains in
detail the changes in the company’s share capital during the last three years.
ACQUISITION OF LEYSEN IN SEPTEMBER 2007
In September 2007 Thenergo concluded the acquisition of Leysen Invest NV (“Leysen”), a Belgian organic
waste-to-energy group, active in two areas; Waste Procurement solutions for agribusinesses, industry, regional
authorities and ports in the Benelux area and Upstream Logistics activities including waste collection, sorting,
treatment and processing for energy recovery. The integration of Leysen’s fuel procurement and logistics
know-how, with Thenergo’s concept engineering, operational management, electricity sales and trading
experience shall enhance both companies’ strengths, while the highly complementary industrial partnership
will allow Thenergo to expand its existing business model and to accelerate the development of biomass units.
At the same time, Thenergo’s turnover and earnings will substantially increase, and recurrent cash flows will
be enhanced thanks to Leysen’s on-going waste management activities.
The total purchase price was 56.000 €, of which 20.000 € was paid in cash, party leveraged by debt financing,
while 16.000 € was settled by the issuance of 1.727.862 Thenergo shares. The conversion rate was based on
the average market price of the Thenergo share between the IPO date (14 June 2007) and 31 August 2007. The
balance of 20.000 € will be settled in 2012 by issuing 2.159.827 Thenergo shares under the condition that the
new business development targets budgeted at 80.000 € in revenue and 16.000 € in EBITDA are met at the
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26 | All amounts in thousands of € , unless explicitly stated differently.

end of 2011. In case a “liquidity event” would occur the capital increase becomes unconditionally and will take
place at the latest by 31 Augustus 2009.
Founded in 2002, Leysen was a privately owned company, headquartered in Turnhout, Belgium. Its core activities
include collection, pre-treatment & treatment of waste in the Benelux region, and biomass for energy, biomass
application, investing in projects and companies in the field of renewable energy on a more global scale.
ACQUISITION OF THE POLARGEN 49% MINORITY INTEREST ON 30 NOVEMBER 2007
One year after the acquisition of the 51% share in Polargen (see above) Thenergo acquired the remaining
49% of the Polargen shares on 30 November 2007. The 49% Polargen purchase price was based on the 2006
Polargen valuation and amounted to 4.900 €. The purchase price was settled by issuing 556 000 Thenergo
shares.
The transaction is a result of the conviction of Thenergo that Polargen has proved to be a highly strategic
investment contributing to the strong growth of Thenergo.
ACQUISITION OF MAJORITY STAKE IN ENRO AG DURING DECEMBER 2007
In order to secure a critical foothold in Germany, generally perceived as a high potential business region in
Europe and a gateway to Central and Eastern Europe, Thenergo acquired 51% in ENRO AG, a German biomassto-energy company listed on the Open Market (regulated unofficial market) at the Frankfurt Stock Exchange,
during December 2007.
In a share swap, ENRO investors received one new Thenergo share for every 2,25 ENRO shares, based on the
9,00 € average market price of the Thenergo share during the 90 trading days preceding the initiation of the
share swap. In addition, Thenergo bought in the market during 2007 21% of ENRO shares at an average price
of 3,70 € per share.
All these transactions occurred without the consent of the supervisory board and management board of
ENRO AG. On 5 December 2007 Thenergo publicly announced that it had obtained a controlling interest
in ENRO AG. On 20 December 2007 the ENRO supervisory board announced its resignation, effective 31
December 2007. On 10 January 2008 the Essen (Germany) court decided to appoint members of Thenergo’s
key management as the new members of the ENRO supervisory board. Consequently, effective 10 January
2008, Thenergo obtained the ability to determine ENRO’s strategic operating and financing policies as well
as the power to protect, maintain or increase the level of benefits from its investment in ENRO. During the
beginning of 2008 ENRO changed it’s name into Thenergo sustainable energies AG (“tse AG”) and Thenergo
acquired an additional 35% in tse AG.
Based on the above, the 51% interest in ENRO AG at 31 December 2007 was in the financial statements
reported as an investment at cost for a total value of 8.014 €. ENRO will be fully consolidated starting 1 January
2008.
The acquisition will allow Thenergo to accelerate the growth and structure of its existing business model while
increasing its revenue and earnings.
EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE
Note 24 Events after the balance sheet date of the financial statements provides all the relevant information
with regard to events after the balance sheet date.
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1.2. Financial performance
The key financial data can be summarised as follows:
2007
Operating income
Revenues

thousands of €
%

20.987

2006*

%

3.787

2005

%

1.303

20.810

100%

3.738

100%

1.299

100%

-18.472

-89%

-3.360

-90%

-1.325

-102%

Recurring EBITDA

2.515

12%

427

11%

-22

-2%

Depreciation and amortisation

-1.696

-8%

-362

-10%

-150

-12%

Recurring EBIT

819

4%

65

2%

-172

-13%

Financial result

65

Operating expenses

Share of result of associates
Income tax (expense)/income

227

102

1.627

-204

Recurring profit

2.738

Share-based payment expense

-1.880

Profit

105

858

-146

276

13%

68

2%

-42

-3%

4%

68

2%

-42

-3%

Attributable to :
Equity holders of Thenergo

-60

-284

-158

Minority interests

919

352

116

Basic earnings per share (€)

-0,01

-0,07

-0,19

Diluted earnings per share (€)

-0,01

-0,07

-0,19

* The 2006 figures as published were restated in order to reflect the changes in accounting policies (see note 2) as well as the finalisation of the
Polargen purchase accounting (see note 5).
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OPERATING ACTIVITIES BY SEGMENT
Over 2007, Thenergo’s operating income has increased to 20.987 € from 3.787 € in 2006 and 1.303 € in 2005.
The 2007 revenues increased with a multiplier of x5,5 as compared to the 2006 revenues. The recurring EBIT
increased to 819 € as compared to 65 € in 2006 (multiplied by 12,6). The profit attains 858 € compared to 68 €
in 2006. These significant increases are caused by both organic and non-organic growth.
During the year Thenergo commissioned 12 new CHP projects bringing the total number of plants in operation
to 20 and the installed electrical capacity from 21,1 MWe to 49,6 MWe (63,3 MWe including ENRO). Revenue
from project development (6.987 €) and monitoring services (646 €) increased accordingly from 502 € in 2006
to 7.633 € in 2007. The EBIT of these activities raised from 928 € in 2006 to 3.022 € in 2007.
Revenue from energy production increased from 3.236 € in 2006 to 5.325 € in 2007 generating 1.107 € EBIT
compared to 862 € in 2006.
The 31 December 2007 financial figures include four months of the Leysen group activities, as the Leysen
group was acquired in September 2007. The impact on revenues attains 7.852 € and 278 € on EBIT.
Detailed information on the segment performance is disclosed in note 4 Segment reporting.
CASH FLOWS
During the year 2007 Thenergo raised new share capital for a total amount of 75.628 € (71.472 € after directly
attributable cash expenses). Borrowings and leases were repaid for a total amount of 10.807 €. Acquisitions
of property, plant and equipment amounted to 13.600 € while the proceeds from new borrowings and leases
amounted to 24.080 €.
The cash flow from operating activities is positive and amounts to 221 €. The cash inflow from the result before
non-cash and non-operating items amounts to 2.764 € which was primarily used to finance the increase in
working capital. Net cash from interest income and interest expense was 251 €.

1.3. Research and development
Thenergo does not incur any significant research and development costs: all renewable energy solutions are
based on proven technology.

1.4. Risks and uncertainties
Judgments made by management in the application of IFRS that may have a significant effect on the financial
statements and estimates with a significant risk of material adjustment are disclosed in the relevant notes
of the consolidated financial statements. Management is not aware of any circumstances that may have a
significant influence on the development of the company.
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2. Consolidated financial statements
Consolidated income statements
Note
Operating income
Revenues

2007

thousands of €
%

20.987
4

Other income

20.810

%

3.787
100%

177

Operating expenses

2006*

3.738

2005

%

1.303
100%

49

1.299

100%

4

-22.048

-106%

-3.722

-100%

-1.475

4

-13.670

-66%

-1.900

-51%

-756

-58%

15

-2.334

-11%

-858

-23%

-220

-17%

-1.696

-8%

-362

-10%

-150

-12%

Share-based payment expense

16

-1.880

Other operating expenses

17

-2.468

-12%

-602

-16%

-349

-27%

-1.061

-5%

65

2%

-172

-13%

Cost of sales
Payroll expenses
Depreciation and amortisation

Operating result
Financial result

65

105

Finance income

18

1.394

378

41

Finance costs

18

-1.329

-273

-187

227

102

-769

272

-318

-1.627

204

-276

Share of result of associates
Result before tax
Income tax expense/(income)

19

Result of the year

858

4%

68

-114%

-146

2%

-42

-3%

Attributable to :
Equity holders of Thenergo

-60

-284

-158

Minority interests

919

352

116

Basic earnings per share (€)

21

-0,01

-0,07

-0,19

Diluted earnings per share (€)

21

-0,01

-0,07

-0,19

* The 2006 figures as published were restated in order to reflect the changes in accounting policies (see note 2) as well as the finalisation of the
Polargen purchase accounting (see note 5).
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Consolidated balance sheets

thousands of €

Note
Non-current assets
Goodwill
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investments
Deferred tax assets

5,6

31/12/2007

31/12/2006*

31/12/2005

117.420

18.017

3.884

59.853

2.841

5,7

7.507

5.219

8,23

38.016

8.385

9

9.332

1.328

19

2.588

244

313

Other non-current assets

3.571

124

Current assets

68.627

11.334

2.368

Trade receivables

10

12.170

6.851

928

Other receivables

10

5.447

1.224

856

Inventories

205

135

Other current assets

20

980

280

2

Cash and cash equivalents

11

49.825

2.979

447

186.047

29.351

6.252

122.473

5.580

481

114.848

3.471

1.681

-1.386

-1.566

-1.450

1.247

3.675

250

Total assets

Equity
Share capital

12

Retained earnings
Share-based payments

16

Hedging reserves

20

7.916
-152

Minority interests
Non-current liabilities

39.158

6.873

2.213

Long-term borrowings

13

24.164

2.539

1.410

Leases

13

12.413

2.560

803

Deferred tax liabilities

19

2.581

1.774

Current liabilities

24.416

16.898

3.558

Short-term borrowings

13

6.990

3.820

1.043

Leases

13

885

231

41

Trade payables

14

13.039

7.333

1.395

Other payables

14

2.317

4.716

220

Other current liabilities

20

1.185

798

859

186.047

29.351

6.252

Total equity and liabilities

* The 2006 figures as published were restated in order to reflect the changes in accounting policies (see note 2) as well as the finalisation of the
Polargen purchase accounting (see note 5).
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Statement of changes in equity 
Share
capital

Balance at 1 January 2005

806

Share capital increase

875

thousands of €

Treasury
shares

Retained
earnings

ShareHedging
based
Reserve payments

-1.292

Equity
attributable to
equity holders
of Thenergo

Minority
interests

Total
equity

-486

134

-352

875

875

Transaction costs directly attributable to
capital increase
Change in consolidation scope
Others
Cash transactions
Result of the year

-158

-158

116

-42

Balance at 31 December 2005

1.681

-1.450

231

250

481

Balance at 1 January 2006

1.681

-1.450

231

250

Share capital increase
Transaction costs directly attributable to
capital increase

2.178

2.178

-399

-399

-399

11

11

11

-70

-70

Change in consolidation scope
Others

5.893

Cash transactions

-70

Result of the year
Balance at 31 December 2006

3.471

-70

Finalisation purchase accounting Polargen –
income statement impact

-190

-190

226

36

1.761

6.369

8.130

31

31

30

61

-2.729

-2.729

-14

-28

Change in accounting policies – income
statement impact

-14

-14

Correction error in 2006 purchase accounting

139

139

Other

-12

-12

19

1.905

3.675

Share capital increases

3.471

-70

-1.496

100.794

Transaction costs directly attributable to
capital increase

-9.417

Contingent capital increase Leysen Acquisition

20.000

5.261

-4.156

-60
2.655

Exchange treasury shares for ENRO AG shares

27

213
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20.000
919

2.655

-152
-43

-1.343

-152

7.916

859
240

-761
114.848

-2.569
2.655

240

Dividends
Cash flow hedge accounting

5.580

-4.156

-2.569
-60

7

100.794

20.000

Share-based payments

Balance at 31 December 2007

139

100.794

Change in consolidation scope
Result of the year

5.893

-1.640

Finalisation purchase accounting Polargen
equity

Balance at 1 January 2007

481

2.178

-761

-152

-17

-169

121.226

1.247

122.473
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Statement of cash flows 

thousands of €

Result before tax

2007

2006*

2005

-769

272

-318

-227

-102

Non-cash or non-operating items
Share of result of associates
Elimination result with associates

362

Financial result
Allowance/(reversal) doubtful debtors
Share-based payment expense

-65

-105

-117

150

146

1.880

Depreciation and amortisation
Change in working capital
Interest paid
Interest received

1.696

362

150

-2.747

-2.493

564

-749

-137

-70

1.000

Income tax paid
Cash flow from operating activities
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment
Acquisition of subsidiaries (entry in scope)
Acquisition price paid subsidiaries
Acquisitions and incorporations of associates

-43

-27

221

-2.080

472

-13.600

-2.205

-3.066

2.818

744

-22.591

-3.570

-3.648

Cash flow from investing activities

-37.021

-5.031

-3.066

Proceeds from the issue of share capital

75.628

2.178

875

Transaction costs directly attributable to the share capital increases

-4.156

-399

Proceeds from borrowings and leases

24.080

7.864

2.102

Repayment of borrowings and leases

-10.807

83.646

9.643

2.977

46.846

2.532

383

2.979

447

64

49.825

2.979

447

Loans granted

-750

Minority interests in new subsidiaries

124

Dividends paid

-271

Dividends received from associates

102

Profit sharing arrangements

-169

Other

-135

Cash flow from financing activities
Net cash flow for the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

* The 2006 figures as published were restated in order to reflect the changes in accounting policies (see note 2) as well as the finalisation of the
Polargen purchase accounting (see note 5).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
Note 1 – Corporate information
Thenergo SA is a Belgian company domiciled at 505 Avenue Louise, 1050 Brussels and founded in 2002.
The company and its subsidiaries design and operate cogeneration (combined heat and power – “CHP”)
installations fuelled by renewable energy (biogas and biomass) as well as natural gas in Belgium, Germany
and the Netherlands. Further, the group is engaged in the operations and maintenance of the cogeneration
projects as well as the trade of the electricity produced and the green power and CHP certificates. Following
the acquisition of Leysen in September 2007 Thenergo entered into the Belgian waste market in order to
develop the “waste to energy” business while creating synergies with the existing renewable energy activities.
During December 2007 Thenergo acquired a controlling stake in ENRO AG, providing access to the German
market and allowing the company to accelerate the growth and structure of its existing business model with
increased revenues and earnings.
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2007 comprise the company and its
subsidiaries (together referred to as « Thenergo » or « the company ») as well as the company’s interests in
associates. These financial statements were prepared under the responsibility of the board of directors and
were authorised for issue by the board of directors on 22 April 2008.

Note 2 – Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), as adopted by the European
Union up to 31 December 2007. The accounting policies applied are consistent with those applied in the annual
consolidated financial statements ended 31 December 2006 with the exception of (i) the presentation of the
green power and CHP certificates which are considered as trade receivables (invoices to issue) instead of
inventory and (ii) the accounting for government grants related to assets which are presented in the balance
sheet as a deduction of the related fixed asset instead of deferred income. Government grants are recognised
as income over the life of the related fixed assets by way of a reduced depreciation charge instead of other
operating income. Management made these changes because they are considered to result in better financial
reporting by representing more faithfully our business. Thenergo has not applied IFRS requirements that are
not yet effective at 31 December 2007. Certain 2006 and 2005 amounts have been reclassified to conform to
the 2007 presentation.
The consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of €, unless explicitly stated differently.

Note 3 – Summary of significant accounting policies
Depending on the applicable IFRS requirements, the measurement basis used in preparing the financial
statements is cost, net realisable value, fair value or recoverable amount. Whenever IFRS provides an option
between cost and another measurement basis (e.g. systematic revaluation), the cost approach is applied.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions with regard to the carrying amount of certain items in the consolidated financial
statements. Estimates based on assumptions are inherently uncertain: actual results may differ from these
estimates. Thenergo reviews its estimates and underlying assumptions on a regular basis in order to take
into account historical experiences when revising estimates and associated assumptions in order to reflect
economic conditions as well as possible. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. Judgments made by management in the
application of IFRS that have significant effect on the financial statements and estimates with a significant risk
of material adjustment in the next year are discussed in the relevant notes hereafter.
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(A) Principles of consolidation
Subsidiaries are those companies in which Thenergo, directly or indirectly, has an interest of more than half
of the voting rights or otherwise has control, directly or indirectly, over the operations so as to obtain benefits
from the companies’ activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights that presently are exercisable
are taken into account. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial
statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. Jointly controlled entities
are consolidated using the proportionate method of consolidation.
The financial statements of our subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates are prepared for the same
reporting year as the parent company, using consistent accounting policies. All intercompany transactions,
balances and unrealised gains and losses on transactions between group companies have been eliminated.
Profit on revenue arising from sales with associates and jointly controlled entities is eliminated to the extent of
Thenergo’s interest in the entity. With regard to concept engineering fees invoiced to associates the elimination
is done by reducing revenue against investments in associates. The deferred profit is released to revenue
over the useful life of the installations, which is typically 10 years. Losses from transactions with associates
and jointly controlled entities are eliminated in the same way as profits, but only to the extent that there is no
evidence of impairment. The company’s significant subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates are
disclosed in note 25 List of subsidiaries and investments in associates.
(B) Business combinations and goodwill
All business combinations are accounted for by applying the purchase method. The cost of the business
combination is measured as the aggregate of the fair values (at the date of exchange) of assets given, liabilities
incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by Thenergo in exchange for control of the acquiree,
plus any costs directly attributable to the business combination. The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under IFRS 3 Business Combinations are
recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date, except for non-current assets (or disposal groups) that
are classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations, which are recognised and measured at fair value less costs to sell.
Goodwill is determined as the excess of the cost of an acquisition over Thenergo’s interest in the net fair value
of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquired subsidiary, jointly controlled entity
or associate recognised at the date of acquisition. If Thenergo’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised exceeds the cost of the business combination such
excess is recognised immediately in the income statement as required by IFRS 3. Goodwill is initially measured
at cost and subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
When Thenergo acquires minority interests any difference between the cost of acquisition and the minority
interest’s share of net assets acquired is taken to goodwill or the income statement in the case of an excess
(badwill).
In conformity with IFRS 3 Business Combinations, goodwill is stated at cost and not amortised but tested for
impairment on an annual basis and whenever there is an indicator that the cash generating unit to which the
goodwill has been allocated, may be impaired (refer accounting policy J).
In respect of associates, the carrying amount of goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment
in the associate.
(C) Intangible Assets
Internally generated intangible assets – Research and development
Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical
knowledge and understanding, is recognised in the income statement as an expense as incurred.
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Expenditure on development activities, whereby research findings are applied to a plan or design for the
production of new or substantially improved products or processes, is capitalised if, and only if, the following
have been demonstrated for the product or process:
•

The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

•

The intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

•

The ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

•

How the intangible asset will generate future economic benefits;

•

The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to
use or sell the intangible asset; and

•

The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

Development and service contracts waste
Development contracts represent acquired contractual rights in a business combination to deliver and operate
cogeneration installations and the commitment of the customer to purchase cogeneration installations and
services from Thenergo. These rights are initially recognised at fair value and amortised on a straight-line basis
over the estimated useful life of the related cogeneration project which is typically 10 years.
Service contracts waste represent acquired contractual rights in a business combination to provide waste
collection services and the commitment of the customer to purchase such services from Thenergo. These
rights are initially recognised at fair value and amortised on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life
of the related contract which ranges between 5 and 10 years.
(D) Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
(refer accounting policy J). Cost includes the purchase price and any costs directly attributable to bringing
the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management (e.g. permits, non refundable tax, costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the
site on witch they are located, if applicable). The cost of a self-constructed asset is determined using the same
principles as for an acquired asset.
Subsequent expenditure
The company recognises in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment the cost of
replacing part of such an item when that cost is incurred if it is probable that the future economic benefits
embodied with the item will flow to the company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other
costs are expensed as incurred.
Depreciation
The depreciable amount is the cost of an asset less its residual value. Residual values, if not insignificant, are
reassessed annually. Depreciation is calculated from the date the asset is available for use, using the straightline method over the estimated useful lives of the assets.
The estimated useful lives are as follows:
• Buildings
• Cogeneration installations based on natural gas
• Cogeneration installations based on biogas and biomass
• Furniture, vehicles, containers and other 
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20 years
7 – 10 years
10 – 15 years
3 – 10 years
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Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as
separate items of property, plant and equipment. Land is not depreciated as it is deemed to have an infinite
life.
(E) Accounting for leases
Leases of property, plant and equipment where the company assumes substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership, are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities (leases) at
amounts equal to the lower of the fair value of the leased property and the present value of the minimum lease
payments at inception of the lease. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction
of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.
Finance charges are charged directly to profit or loss. Amortisation and impairment testing for depreciable
leased assets is the same as for depreciable assets that are owned (refer accounting policy D and J).
Leases of assets under which all the risks and rewards of ownership are substantially retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases are charged to the income statement on
a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, any payment required to be made
to the lessor by way of penalty is recognised as an expense in the period in which termination takes place.
(F)

Investments

Investments in associates are undertakings in which Thenergo has significant influence over the financial and
operating policies, but which it does not control. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial
and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over these policies. This is
generally evidenced by ownership of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Associates are accounted for
by the equity method of accounting, from the date that significant influence commences until the date that
significant influence ceases. When Thenergo’s share of losses exceeds the carrying amount of the associate,
the carrying amount is reduced to nil and no further losses are recognised except to the extent that Thenergo
has incurred obligations in respect of the associate.
Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities of the associate recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as
goodwill. The goodwill is included within the carrying amount of the investment and is assessed for impairment
as part of that investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.
(G) Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are carried at amortised cost less impairment losses. An estimate is made for
doubtful receivables based on a review of all outstanding amounts at the balance sheet date. An impairment
loss is recognised in the income statement for the difference between the carrying amount of the receivables
and the present value of the estimated future cash flows.
(H) Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost includes expenditure incurred in
acquiring the inventories and bringing them to their existing location and condition. The weighted average
method is used in assigning the cost of inventories.
The cost of finished products and work in progress comprises raw materials, other production materials, direct
labor, other direct cost and an allocation of fixed and variable overhead based on normal operating capacity.
Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated
completion and selling costs.
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(I)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and demandable deposits. These financial assets are
measured at fair value.
(J)

Impairment

The carrying amounts of financial assets, property, plant and equipment, goodwill and intangible assets are
reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such
indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated to determine the extent of the impairment loss
(if any). In addition, goodwill is tested for impairment annually. An impairment loss is recognised whenever the
carrying amount of an asset or the related cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses are recognised in the income statement.
Calculation of recoverable amount
The recoverable amount is determined as the higher of the fair value less costs to sell of the asset and the
value in use. For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Impairment losses recognised in
respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to
the units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit on a pro rata basis.
For goodwill, the recoverable amount of the cash generating units to which the goodwill belongs is based on
a fair value approach. More specifically, a discounted free cash flow approach is used. These calculations are
corroborated by valuation multiples. As regards the level of goodwill impairment testing, Thenergo’s overall
approach is to test goodwill for impairment at the segment level.
Reversal of impairment losses
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. Impairment losses on other assets are reversed
if the subsequent increase in recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognised. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or
amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.
(K) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when (i) the company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events, (ii) it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation, and (iii) a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. Provisions
are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.
(L)

Employee benefits

Contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised as an expense in the income statement when
employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions. The company did not operate any defined
benefit plans at the balance sheet date.
(M) Share-based payments
The company’s 2007 share option (“warrant”) program allows company senior management and members
of the board to acquire Thenergo shares. The fair value of the warrants is estimated at grant date, using the
binomial Monte Carlo option pricing model. Based on the expected number of warrants that will vest, the fair
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value of the warrants granted is expensed over the vesting period. At each balance sheet date, the company
reviews its estimate of the number of warrants expected to vest. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss over the remaining vesting period, with a corresponding
adjustment to the share based payment reserve within the equity section. When the warrants are exercised,
equity is increased by the amount of the proceeds received.
(N) Borrowings and borrowing costs
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any difference between the initial amount and the
maturity amount being recognised in the income statement over the expected life of the instrument on an
effective interest rate basis.
Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred unless they are
directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset as part of the cost of
that asset.
(O) Income Tax
Income tax on the result of the year comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the
income statement except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case the
tax effect is also recognised directly in equity.
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted, or
substantively enacted, at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years.
In accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes deferred taxes are provided using the so-called balance sheet liability
method. This means that, taking into account the IAS 12 requirements, for all taxable and deductible differences
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the balance sheet a deferred tax
liability or asset is recognised. Under this method a provision for deferred taxes is also made for differences
between the fair values of assets and liabilities acquired in a business combination and their tax base. IAS 12
prescribes that no deferred taxes are recognised (i) on initial recognition of goodwill, (ii) at the initial recognition
of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit and (iii) on differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably
not reverse in the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner
of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using currently or substantively
enacted tax rates.
A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the asset can be utilised. A deferred tax asset is reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.
(P) Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will
flow to the company and the income can be measured reliably. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable and is reduced for rebates and other similar allowances.
Goods and services sold
In relation to the sale of goods and services, revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of
ownership have been transferred to the buyer, the services have been delivered, and no significant uncertainties
remain regarding recovery of the consideration due, associated costs or the possible return of goods, and
there is no continuing management involvement with the goods. Revenue from the sale of goods and services

All amounts in thousands of €, unless explicitly stated differently. 39

|

www.thenergo.eu | 39

is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of returns and allowances, trade
discounts and volume rebates.
Green power and CHP certificates earned from the cogeneration production of electricity and heat are
recognised when production has occurred and the collection of the sales value is probable.
Revenue from the sale of cogeneration installations is recognised in the income statement when the projects
are substantially completed. The company does not apply the percentage of completion method on projects
under construction because (i) the average completion period is less than one year and (ii) profit is eliminated
for projects in which the company has a controlling interest or eliminated to the extent of Thenergo’s interest
in the case of associates – see also (A) Principles of consolidation above. Thenergo has a controlling or at least
significant interest in the cogeneration projects undertaken.
Government grants
A government grant is recognised in the balance sheet when there is reasonable assurance that it will be
received and that the company will comply with the conditions attached to it. Grants related to property,
plant and equipment are presented in the balance sheet as a deduction of property, plant and equipment and
recognised in the income statement over the life of the related asset by way of a reduced depreciation charge.
Grants that compensate the company for expenses to be incurred (typically interest expense) are presented
in the balance sheet as deferred income and recognised as finance income on a systematic basis in the same
periods in which the interest expenses are incurred.
Finance income
Finance income comprises interest earned on short-term demandable deposits and interest charged to
customers as part of the pre-financing of cogeneration projects completed. Further, finance income includes
gains on hedging instruments that are not part of a hedge accounting relationship as well as any gains from
hedge ineffectiveness (refer accounting policy R). Finance income also includes government grants with regard
to interest expenses as explained above. The company has no significant transactions or exposures in foreign
currencies.
(Q) Expenses
Finance costs
Finance costs comprise interest payable on borrowings and leases, calculated using the effective interest rate
method and losses on hedging instruments that are not part of a hedge accounting relationship, as well as any
losses from hedge ineffectiveness (refer accounting policy R). Further, finance costs include the expenses of
profit sharing arrangements.
(R) Derivative Financial Instruments
Thenergo uses derivative financial instruments to manage the economic impact of interest rates and electricity
prices on the company’s performance. Thenergo’s financial risk management policy prohibits the use of
derivative financial instruments for trading purposes and the company does therefore not hold or issue any
such instruments for such purposes. Derivative financial instruments that are economic hedges but that do not
meet the strict IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement hedge accounting rules, however,
are accounted for as financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.
Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value. Fair value is the amount for which the
asset could be exchanged or the liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length
transaction. The fair value of derivative financial instruments is either the quoted market price or is calculated
using pricing models taking into account current market rates. These pricing models also take into account the
current creditworthiness of the counterparties.
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Subsequent to initial recognition, derivative financial instruments are remeasured to their fair value at balance
sheet date. Depending on whether cash flow hedge accounting is applied or not, any gain or loss is either
recognised directly in equity or in the income statement.
Cash flow hedge accounting is applied to all hedges that qualify for hedge accounting when the required
hedge documentation is in place and when the hedge relation is determined to be effective. The company
does not apply any fair value hedge accounting.
Cash flow hedge accounting
When a derivative financial instrument hedges the variability in cash flows of a recognised asset or liability or a
highly probable forecasted transaction, the effective part of any resulting gain or loss on the derivative financial
instrument is recognised directly in equity (hedging reserves). When the forecasted transaction results in the
recognition of a financial asset or liability, the cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument is reclassified
from equity into the income statement in the same period during which the hedged risk affects the income
statement (e.g. when the variable electricity income is recognised). The ineffective part of any gain or loss is
recognised immediately in the income statement.
When a hedging instrument or hedge relationship is terminated but the hedged transaction is still expected
to occur, the cumulative gain or loss remains in equity and is reclassified in accordance with the above policy
when the hedged transaction occurs. If the hedged transaction is no longer probable, the cumulative gain or
loss recognised in equity is reclassified into the income statement immediately.
(S) Recently issued IFRS
To the extent that new IFRS requirements are expected to be applicable in the future, they have been
summarised hereafter.
IFRS 8 Operating segments
In November 2006 the IASB issued International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) 8 Operating Segments.
IFRS 8 replaces IAS 14 Segment Reporting and aligns segment reporting with US generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP). This development is part of the IASB’s short-term convergence project with the US Financial
Accounting Standards Board (FASB) to reduce differences between IFRS and US GAAP. IFRS 8 needs to be
applied for the first time in the 2009 annual financial statements. The new standard requires Thenergo to adopt
a “management approach” to reporting on the financial performance of our segments. We do not expect that
IFRS 8 will trigger a material change to our current segment reporting.

Note 4 – Segment reporting
Since Thenergo’s risks and returns are predominantly affected by the differences in the company’s activities
the primary segment reporting format are business segments. The following four business segments were
identified :
• Energy production from natural gas : this segment contains the production and sale of energy from
cogeneration installations fuelled by natural gas as well as the trade of the related CHP certificates.
• Energy production from biogas and biomass : this segment covers the production and sale of energy
from installations fuelled by biogas and biomass as well as the trade of the related green power and CHP
certificates.
• Concept engineering of energy plants : this segment groups the services with regard to the engineering and
building of energy plants as well as operational services.
• Fuels & waste : this segment includes the procurement of fuels for energy processing and the upstream
waste collection activities.
A secondary geographical segment reporting is not considered useful since the company’s revenue and costs
were predominantly generated from projects and activities in Belgium and the Netherlands.
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Energy from
natural gas

Energy
from biogas
and biomass

2007

2006

2007

2006

2007

2006

2007

4.120

1.538

1.205

1.698

7.633

502

7.852

1

4.455

278

4.120

1.578

1.205

1.699

12.088

780

7.852

Operating result (EBIT)

532

328

575

534

2.563

52

278

-3.988

-849

Depreciation

682

208

126

126

334

5

530

24

23

1.214

536

701

660

2.897

57

808

-3.964

-826

-201

1.364

105

Revenue external
customers
Revenue other segments
Total segment
revenue

EBITDA
Financial result
Share of result of
associates

40

-707
227

Income taxes

-703

Result of the year

755

-382

Concept
engineering Fuels &
energy plants Waste

-9

-887

-319
-319

-1.021

-1.021

430

1.080

534

2.554

52

20.810

3.738

-1.061

65

1.696

362

635

427

65

105

227

102

-2.676

-948

-909

858

68

128.528

5.517

-1.021

186.047 29.351

14.399 16.776

-112

63.574 23.771

-734

17.929

3.002

5.664 13.045

18.589

971

6.178

3.715

15.517

8.472

1.053

4.504

1.123

3.022

928

539

Concept
engineering
energy plants

2006

2005

2006

2005

2006

1.538

522

1.698

218

502

559

278

1

3.738

54

9.498

40

20.810

204

7.976

Energy from
biogas and
biomass

2006

-1.627

7.787

Energy from
natural gas

2007

-112

2.309

2005

2.126

Holding

2005

1.960

-319

-1.960

-319

-1.960

1.578

522

1.699

218

780

2.519

Operating result (EBIT)

328

-28

534

131

52

180

Depreciation

208

87

126

41

5

EBITDA

536

59

660

172

57

180

Financial result

2006

Eliminations
2006

Total segment revenue

2005

3.104

Consolidated
2006

2005

3.738

1.299

3.738

1.299

-849

-455

65

-172

23

22

362

150

-826

-433

427

-22

105

-146

105

-146

102

102

Income taxes
Result of the year

-4.455
-4.455

Consolidated

204

24.789

Share of result of associates

2006

52

19.616

Revenue other segments

2007

23

Assets

Revenue external customers

Eliminations

2006

102

Liabilities
Acquisition of
property, plant and
equipment

Holding
2007

-276

204

-276

-948

-325

68

-42

430

-28

534

131

52

Assets

7.787

2.688

3.002

1.878

13.045

5.517

1.686

29.351

6.252

Liabilities

2.309

719

971

91

3.715

16.776

4.961

23.771

5.771

Acquisition of property, plant
and equipment

1.053

1.332

1.123

1.723

928

3.104

3.066
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Operating income
Over 2007, Thenergo’s operating income has increased to 20.987 € from 3.787 € in 2006 and 1.303 € in 2005.
The 2007 operating income increased with a multiplier of x5,5 as compared to the 2006 operating income. This
significant increase is caused by both organic and non-organic growth.
Operating income

2007

Electricity

2006

2005

2.173

10%

1.329

35%

271

Heat

856

4%

322

9%

104

21%
8%

Green Certificates

618

3%

684

18%

161

12%

CHP certificates

1.678

8%

900

24%

144

11%

Development fees

7.633

36%

497

13%

521

40%

Waste management

7.812

37%

40

0%

6

0%

98

8%

177

1%

49

1%

4

0%

Other revenues
Other income
Total

20.987

3.787

1.303

Electricity revenues are generated by sales of electricity to both the project partners and to the public grid. The
portion of electricity sold to the local partner is limited to an average of 9,4% of the electricity revenues. The
rest is sold to the grid. Electricity sales are conducted via forward contracts (with a period between 3 and 15
months) and spot sales.
The heat revenues are fully generated by sales of heat to the local partners in the projects.
Energy sales (electricity and heat) increased to 3.029 € in 2007 as compared to 1.651 € in 2006 and 375 € in
2005. This increase is linked to a higher number of operational CHP plants.
Revenues from CHP certificates increased to 1.678 € following the higher number of operational CHP plants.
With respect to the green certificates, revenues slightly decreased to 618 € in 2007 as compared to 684 € in
2006 which is explained by the lower number of operational hours of the Biocogen plant in 2007 following
the scheduled maintenance of the CHP installation and additional maintenance at the partner’s site not in
Thenergo’s control.
Development fee revenues relate to concept engineering charged by Thenergo to all of its projects (both in
majority and minority held projects) as remuneration for the project development effort and the concept
engineering activities, including ad hoc external sales of CHP installations. The development revenues increased
to 6.987 € in 2007 as compared to about 300 € in 2006. The 2007 development revenues are linked to the fact
that 12 CHP plants were completed in the course of 2007 and project development and engineering activities
done for external parties.
Next to the development fee, other fees and commissions are charged (646 € in 2007) with respect to sales
commissions and management & monitoring activities.
All of the 2007 revenues were generated in Belgium, given that in 2007 Thenergo only had minority participations
in the three operational CHP plants in the Netherlands. Furthermore, control of ENRO was only acquired in
January 2008 and is therefore only consolidated as of 1 January 2008.
Operating expenses
Cost of sales
Fuel costs
Thenergo’s operational sites at 31 December 2007 were all from the ‘Groeikracht’ type, except for one plant,
the Biocogen plant. The fuel used for the ‘Groeikracht’ plants is natural gas, whilst for the Biocogen plant biogas
is used as fuel, coming from a purification process of polluted water.
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The expenses following the purchase of natural gas serving as fuel for Thenergo’s CHP plants increased to
2.393 € in 2007 compared to 1.063 € in 2006 and 274 € in 2005. This increase is linked to the higher number of
operational CHP plants, using natural gas as fuel, in 2007 compared to 2006 and 2005.
Project development costs
Thenergo incurs costs linked to the project development for its own projects or for external projects, sales of
engines or services to third parties. These costs entail cost of studies and cost associated to sales of engines
and installations.
Project development costs increased to 5.565 € in 2007 compared to 104 € in 2006 and 412 € in 2005.
Waste management costs
The most important costs relating to waste management are linked to the purchase of recovery goods (1.613 €)
mainly the purchase of paper and cardboard and also plastics to a lesser extent. After a minor treatment, these
goods are either sold to the paper industry, either exported.
A second important cost is the treatment cost of waste (2.587 €) which are gate fees that need to be paid to
external parties that process the waste. Important to note is that a part of these waste flows are considered
as fuel for certain Thenergo projects under construction or in the pipeline and that therefore a certain amount
of gate fees will be saved in the future.
Payroll expenses
Personnel costs (excluding share based expense – as discussed hereunder) increased to 2.334 € in 2007,
compared to 858 € in 2006 and 220 € in 2005. The significant 2007 increase is to a large extent linked to the
acquisition of the Leysen group in September 2007, adding extra personnel costs for an amount of 1.263 € to
Thenergo’s 2007 payroll expenses.
The remaining variance is limited despite the significant revenue growth (also excluding the Leysen revenue),
as a consequence of a more effective allocation of staff to projects as well as disciplined management of
human resources.
The average number of employees increased to 56 FTE’s in 2007, coming from 10 in 2006 and 7 FTE’s in 2005.
The significant increase in 2007 is mainly linked to the Leysen acquisition in September 2007. At the end of
2007 Thenergo counted in total 190 FTE’s, of which 109 employed in the Leysen Group, 51 in tse AG and 30 in
Thenergo. This includes management and corporate functions.
Share-based expense
Thenergo’s 2007 reported EBITDA is negatively impacted by a share-based expense for an amount of 2.667 €.
This expense is a non-cash expense of which 787 € is regarded as an operational engineering cost and
eventually capitalised as thus, while 1.880 € is not linked to Thenergo’s operational business. The expense is
a consequence of the share options granted to Key Management and Board members in the course of 2007.
See also note 16 Share-based payments.
For management reporting purposes, Thenergo did not include such expense in the Recurring EBITDA figures
as Thenergo believes that including such expense does not properly reflect the financial performance of the
company.
Thenergo’s future EBITDA will also be impacted until 2010 in relation with this share-based expense. Thenergo
estimates the impact to be 3.100 € in 2008, 1.200 € in 2009 and 500 € in 2010.
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Other operating expenses
For 2007, Thenergo’s most important other operating expenses (total amount for 2007 is 2.468 €) relate to:
• Third party services (870 €), i.e. mainly insurance, audit fees and accounting fees;
• Usage costs (606 €), i.e. mainly utilities and office supplies;
• PR, marketing & Sales (659 €), i.e. mainly communication & PR and representation costs.
Recurring EBITDA
For discussing the EBITDA and EBIT figures, we exclude the share-based payment expense from these figures
in order to properly compare the business performance over the years 2007, 2006 and 2005. Therefore the
2007 ‘Recurring EBITDA’ and ‘Recurring EBIT’ are equal to the 2007 reported EBITDA and EBIT excluding the
share-based expense of 1.880 €.
For the years 2006 and 2005, the ‘Recurring EBITDA’ and ‘Recurring EBIT’ are equal to the reported EBITDA and
EBIT.
Thenergo’s Recurring EBITDA increased to 2.515 € in 2007 as compared to 427 € in 2006 and -22 € in 2005.
Besides the significant increase in absolute figures, the Recurring EBITDA margin also increased to 12,1% in
2007 compared to 11,4% in 2006 and -1,7% in 2005, despite higher communication and representation costs
in 2007 following the increased communication efforts of Thenergo as a consequence of the Alternext listing
in June 2007.
Recurring EBIT
Amortisations and depreciations
Amortisations and depreciations increased to 1.696 € in 2007 compared to 362 € in 2006 and 150 € in 2005.
The significant increase in amortisations and depreciations in 2007 is a consequence of the significantly higher
number of operational sites in 2007 compared to 2006 and 2005.
Recurring EBIT
Thenergo’s Recurring EBIT increased to 819 € in 2007 as compared to 65 € in 2006 and -172 € in 2005. Besides
the significant increase in absolute figures, the Recurring EBIT margin also increased to 3,9% in 2007 compared
to 1,8% in 2006 and -13,2% in 2005.
Profit
Financial result
Financial income increased to 1.394 € in 2007 compared to 378 € in 2006 and 41 € in 2005. The 2007 financial
income increase is caused by the 70 million € of funds raised in June 2007, where after a large part of the
proceeds was invested in short-term deposits over the second half of 2007. On 31 December 2007, Thenergo
still had a positive cash position of 49.825 €.
Financial costs increased to 1.329 € in 2007 compared to 273 € in 2006 and 187 € in 2005.
The 2007 financial cost increase is caused by a higher number of operational plants that have been financed
via a project financing structure on the concerning Project company.
The debt and interest expense of all the project companies where Thenergo is majority shareholder is
consolidated in the Thenergo financials.
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Taxes
As all of Thenergo’s projects are structured in separate legal entities, the tax position of each entity is analysed
separately in Belgium in order to determine the taxes due. Thenergo has both operational projects which are
subject to deferred tax assets (1.755 €, following tax credit for capital expenditures, notional interest deduction
and elimination of intercompany profits) and entities that pay income taxes based on a positive tax base
(128 €). The consolidated tax impact on Thenergo’s profit is therefore a positive tax credit worth 1.627 €.
Profit
Thenergo’s reported profit (after share-based expense) increased to 858 € in 2007 as compared to 68 € in 2006
and -42 € in 2005. This implies a profit margin of 4,1% in 2007 versus 1,8% in 2006 and -3,2% in 2005.
For 2007, these profit figures include the share-based expense of 1.880 €.
The Thenergo share of the profit in 2007 amounts to -60 € as a consequence of the share-based expense fully
relating to Thenergo and not to the minorities.

Note 5 – Acquisitions of subsidiaries
Polargen acquisition
On 30 November 2006 the company acquired 51% of the Polargen Holding BV shares. Via its subsidiaries and
investments in associates Polargen designs and operates cogeneration (combined heat and power – “CHP”)
installations for agricultural and industrial partners in Belgium and the Netherlands. Polargen holds an 11,66%
interest in Groeikracht Merksplas NV and a 13,76% interest in Groeikracht Boechout NV. Since Thenergo already
held respectively 44,99% and 41,02% of the voting rights in these companies it obtained control over them. As
a result, these subsidiaries are fully consolidated as from 30 November 2006 while they were proportionally
consolidated before. The Polargen purchase price amounts to 5.100 € paid in cash.
The 2006 consolidated revenue and profit would have been higher by respectively 4.441 € and 458 € if the
acquisition date had been 1 January 2006.
During the year 2007 the company completed its purchase accounting for Polargen. The changes in the
acquired net assets as compared to the numbers published at 31 December 2006 are as follows:
Amounts at 31 December 2006
as published in June 2007

Final values upon completion
purchase accounting

Intangible assets

14.662

5.232

9.430

Deferred tax liabilities

-4.984

-1.779

-3.205

Trade payables

-6.073

-5.934

-139

Total

3.605

-2.481

6.086

Difference

The changes in the net assets were allocated as follows :
Goodwill
Goodwill on investments in associates
Retained earnings
Minority interests
Total

2.841
655
-139
2.729
6.086

The significant decrease in the recognised intangible assets is explained by the fact that the initial value of
14.662 € was purely based on business plan data lacking intangible assets recognisable under IFRS.
On 30 November 2007 Thenergo acquired the remaining minority interest of 49% in Polargen in exchange
for 556.000 Thenergo shares. The transaction was valued at 4.900 € and resulted in an additional goodwill of
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2.994 €. The total Polargen goodwill of 5.835 € is justified by (i) the Polargen know-how, (ii) revenue synergies
and (iii) the proven profitability of Polargen and its investments in associates.
Directly attributable expenses for the Polargen acquisition amount to 16 €.
Leysen acquisition
In September 2007 Thenergo concluded the acquisition of Leysen Invest NV (“Leysen”), a Belgian waste
management group, active in two core areas; Waste Procurement solutions for agribusinesses, industry, regional
authorities and ports in the Benelux area and Upstream Logistics activities including waste collection, sorting,
treatment and processing for energy recovery. The integration of Leysen’s fuel procurement and logistics
know-how, with Thenergo’s concept engineering, operational management, electricity sales and trading
experience will enhance both companies’ strengths, while the highly complementary industrial partnership
will allow Thenergo to expand its existing business model and to accelerate the development of biomass units.
At the same time, Thenergo’s turnover and earnings will substantially increase, and recurrent cash flows will
be enhanced thanks to Leysen’s on-going waste management activities.
Founded in 2002, Leysen Group was a privately owned company, headquartered in Turnhout, Belgium. Its core
activities include collection, pre-treatment & treatment of waste in the Benelux region, and biomass for energy,
biomass application, investing in projects and companies in the field of renewable energy on a more global scale.
The total purchase price amounts to 56.000 €, of which 20.000 € was paid in cash, leveraged by debt financing
of 10.000 €, while 16.000 € was settled against 1.727.862 Thenergo shares and 20.000 € will be settled in 2012
by issuing 2.159.827 Thenergo shares subject to the achievement of new business development targets in the
renewable energy business budgeted at 80.000 € in revenue and 16.000 € in EBITDA at the end of 2011. In case a
“liquidity event” would occur the capital increase becomes unconditionally and will take place at the latest by 31
Augustus 2009. Consequently, the goodwill and conditional capital (see also note 12 Share capital) stemming from
the recognition of the 20.000 € contingent consideration may be reduced to as low as zero during the subsequent
years if the performance targets are not met. The 9,26 € value of a Thenergo share, used in determining the number
of Thenergo shares to be issued to settle the acquisition price, is, because of the thinness of the market, based on
the average market price of the Thenergo share between the IPO date of 14 June 2007 and 31 August 2007.
Directly attributable expenses for the Leysen transaction amount to 578 €. Leysen contributed 42 € to the 2007
profit. It was estimated that the 2007 consolidated revenue would have been 15.005 € higher while profit would
have been 1.142 € lower if the acquisition date had been 1 January 2007.
At 31 December 2007 the Leysen purchase accounting was only provisional because management had not
yet completed its analysis of the existing contracts nor the fair value measurement of the assets and liabilities
acquired.
Other acquisitions
On 28 December 2007 Thenergo concluded the acquisition of the majority interest of 74,87% in Groeikracht
de Markvallei NV for a cash consideration of 616 € paid at 31 December 2007. As a result, the company
obtained control of this company based on which the assets and liabilities of Groeikracht de Markvallei NV
were included in the consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2007 while the income statement of this
new subsidiary was accounting for under the equity method until 31 December 2007. Due to the timing of the
transaction management was not yet able to complete the purchase accounting for this transaction. Therefore,
the purchase price of 616 € was recognised against the outstanding minorities with the difference of -175 €
being recognised tentatively as deferred income as part of the other current liabilities. If the acquisition date
would have been 1 January 2007 consolidated revenue and profit would have been higher by respectively
2.943 € and 34 €. The amount of directly attributable expenses related to this acquisition was insignificant.
On 26 December 2007 Thenergo completed the buy out of the 43,34% minority interests in Groeikracht
Merksplas NV for a purchase price of 445 € settled in cash at 31 December 2007. This purchase price was
recognised against the outstanding minorities with the difference of 162 € being recognised as goodwill – see
also note 6 Goodwill.
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At the end of December 2007 Thenergo acquired 40,76% minority interests in Groeikracht Boechout NV for
a cash purchase price of 525 € payable in 2008. This purchase price was recognised against the outstanding
minorities with the difference of 68 € being recognised as goodwill – see also note 6 Goodwill. At 31 December
2007 minorities in Groeikracht Boechout NV amount to 4,46%.
The table below summarises the impact of the acquisitions (figures at the respective dates that control was
obtained over the subsidiaries) on the financial position of Thenergo:

Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment

2007

2006

2.654

5.232

13.074

968

87

1.197

15.815

7.494

Trade receivables

7.812

5.303

Other receivables

886

224

Investments
Deferred tax assets
Non-current assets

Inventories
Other current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

97

52
202
739

438

Current assets

9.691

5.965

Long-term borrowings

-4.282

-64

Leases

-7.058

-337

Deferred tax liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Short-term borrowings
Leases

-918

-1.903

-12.258

-2.304

-2.263

-107

-340

-63

Trade payables

-6.818

-6.073

Other payables

-875

-476

Other current liabilities

-124

-6

-10.420

-6.725

Net identifiable assets and liabilities

2.828

4.430

Share acquired in the net identifiable assets and liabilities

2.828

2.259

53.788

3.496

Consideration

56.616

5.100

(Conditional) settlement in Thenergo shares

-36.000

Bank loan to finance Leysen acquisition

-10.000

Current liabilities

Minorities
Goodwill on acquisitions

Cash acquired
Net cash outflow

2005

-655

-739

-744

9.877

4.356

The 2006 cash acquired of -744 € includes -306 € with regard to Groeikracht Merksplas NV and Boechout NV
following the change in consolidation method – see above : Polargen acquisition.
ENRO acquisition
In order to secure a critical foothold in Germany, generally perceived as a high potential business region in
Europe and a gateway to Central and Eastern Europe, Thenergo acquired 51% in ENRO AG, a German biomassto-energy company listed on the Open Market (regulated unofficial market) at the Frankfurt Stock Exchange,
during December 2007.
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In a share swap, ENRO investors received one new Thenergo share for every 2,25 ENRO shares, based on the
9,00 € average market price of the Thenergo share during the 90 trading days preceding the initiation of the
private placement. In addition, Thenergo bought in the market during 2007 21% of ENRO shares at an average
price of 3,70 € per share.
All these transactions occurred without the consent of the supervisory board and management board of ENRO
AG. On 5 December 2007 Thenergo publicly announced that it had obtained a controlling interest in ENRO AG.
On 20 December 2007 the ENRO supervisory board announced its resignation, effective 31 December 2007. On
10 January 2008 the Essen (Germany) court decided to appoint members of Thenergo’s key management as
the new members of the ENRO supervisory board. Consequently, effective 10 January 2008 Thenergo obtained
the ability to determine ENRO’s strategic operating and financing policies as well as the power to protect,
maintain or increase the level of benefits from its investment in ENRO. During the beginning of 2008 ENRO
changed it name into Thenergo sustainable energies AG (“tse AG”) and Thenergo acquired an additional 35% in
tse AG, of which 25% against 3.098 € of cash and 10% by issuing 165.376 Thenergo shares.
Based on the above the 51% interest in ENRO AG was in the financial statements ended 31 December 2007
reported as an investment at cost for a total value of 8.014 €. tse AG will be fully consolidated starting 1 January
2008. The company has not yet started its accounting for the business combination and is therefore unable to
provide the IFRS 3 disclosures for acquisitions made after the balance sheet date.
The acquisition will allow Thenergo to accelerate the growth and structure of its existing business model while
increasing its revenue and earnings.

Note 6 – Goodwill
Gross Value

Impairment

At 31 December 2005
Acquisition 51% Polargen – November 2006

2.841

At 31 December 2006

2.841

Acquisition 100% Leysen – September 2007

53.788

Acquisition 49% minority interest Polargen – November 2007

2.994

Acquisition 43% minority interest Groeikracht Merksplas – December 2007

162

Acquisition 41% minority interest Groeikracht Boechout – December 2007

68

At 31 December 2007

59.853

Goodwill has been tested for impairment at the segment level based on a fair value less cost to sell approach.
The Polargen goodwill is less than four times the budgeted profit of Polargen for the coming years. With regard
to the Leysen goodwill of 53.788 € it should be noted that this amount includes 20.000 € which is contingent
upon the achievement of new business development targets in the renewable energy business budgeted at
80.000 € in revenue and 16.000 € in EBITDA by the end of 2011 – see also note 5 Acquisitions of subsidiaries.
Further, this amount is subject to the finalisation of the purchase accounting during 2008, after which a detailed
impairment testing approach can be set-up.
In the fourth quarter of 2007, Thenergo completed its annual impairment test for goodwill and concluded, based
on the information described above, that no impairment charge was warranted. The company cannot predict
whether an event that triggers impairment will occur, when it will occur or how it will affect the asset values
reported. Thenergo believes that all of its estimates are reasonable: they are consistent with the internal reporting
and reflect management’s best estimates. However, inherent uncertainties exist that management may not be
able to control. While a change in the estimates used could have a material impact on the calculation of the fair
values and trigger an impairment charge, the company is not aware of any reasonably possible change in a key
assumption used that would cause a business unit’s carrying amount to exceed its recoverable amount.
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Note 7 – Intangible assets
Acquisition value

Amortisation

5.232

-13

5.232

-13

2.654

-366

7.886

-379

Impairment

At 31 December 2005
Polargen development contracts
At 31 December 2006
Leysen service contracts waste
At 31 December 2007

The Polargen development contracts represent acquired contractual rights to deliver and operate cogeneration
installations and the commitment of the customer to purchase cogeneration installations and services from
Thenergo. These rights are initially recognised at fair value as part of the Polargen purchase accounting (see
also note 5 Acquisitions of subsidiaries) and amortised on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of
the related cogeneration project which is typically 10 years.
Future cash flows from the commissioning of cogeneration installations for a total capacity of 40 MWe as well
as management fees with regard to existing and contracted cogeneration installations were projected on a 10
year basis and discounted at 10% per year to determine the fair value of the development contracts.
The Leysen service contracts waste represent acquired contractual rights to provide waste collection services
and the commitment of the customer to purchase such services from Thenergo. These rights are initially
recognised at fair value following the provisional purchase accounting for the September 2007 Leysen
acquisition (see also note 5 Acquisitions of subsidiaries) and amortised on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful life of the related contract which ranges between 5 and 10 years.

Note 8 – Property, plant and equipment

Installations,
Land and machinery &
equipment
buildings

Leased
equipment

Furniture,
vehicles &
PPE under
other construction

2007

2006

2005

Total

Total

Total

700

Acquisition cost
Balance at end of previous year
Entry in the consolidation scope
Acquisitions

5.307

2.640

255

1.764

2.027

9.197

86

236

7.188

3.625

586

1.085
6.294

9.287

3.766

13.074

2.820

17.929

3.104

Change in accounting policy
Other
Balance at end of year

3.066

-893
-41
2.000

14.481

-41
15.462

927

7.379

40.249

8.797

3.766

Depreciation and impairment losses
Balance at end of previous year
Depreciations

-432

-363

-107

-902

-195

-45

-28

-497

-676

-130

-1.331

-349

-150

-28

-929

-1.039

-237

-2.233

-412

1.972

13.552

14.423

690

7.379

4.875

2.277

148

1.085

Change in accounting policy
Balance at end of year

132
-195

Carrying amount
at 31 December 2007
at 31 December 2006
at 31 December 2005
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During the year 2007 the accounting policy with regard to government grants for property, plant and equipment
was changed : the grants are presented in the balance sheet as a deduction of the related fixed asset instead
of deferred income – see also note 2 Statement of compliance.
Government grants were recognised as follows in the balance sheet :
31/12/2007

31/12/2006

31/12/2005

1.770

893

666

354

455

264

2.124

1.348

930

Government assistance for cogeneration installations –
deducted from the acquisition cost
Government assistance for the financing of cogeneration installations –
deferred income included in other liabilities
Total

There were no unfulfilled conditions relating to the government grants recognised in the balance sheet.
The residual value of the cogeneration installations was estimated at 10% of the acquisition cost.
The company leases cogeneration installations (carrying amount of 8.679 € at 31 December 2007 and 2.277 €
at 31 December 2006) as well as containers, furniture and vehicles (carrying amount of 5.744 € at 31 December
2007 and 0 € at 31 December 2006) under a number of finance lease agreements.

PPE under construction relates to two biomass cogeneration plants.

Note 9 – Investments
The increase in the carrying amount of investments by 8.004 € between 31 December 2006 and 31 December
2007 is primarily explained by the ENRO acquisition (carrying amount of 8.014 € – see also note 5 Acquisitions
of subsidiaries above).

Note 10 – Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables consist of the following:
2007
Accounts receivable
Contracts under construction
Total

2006

2005

10.970

2.520

928

1.200

4.331

12.170

6.851

928

The ageing of the accounts receivable is as follows:
Of which not impaired
as of the reporting date and past due as follows

Net
carrying
amount
as of
December 31

Of which:
neither impaired
nor past due
on the
reporting date

Past due –
less than
30 days

Past due –
between 30
and 60 days

Past due –
between 60
and 90 days

Past due –
more than
90 days

At 31 December 2007

10.970

5.566

1.849

1.325

156

2.074

At 31 December 2006

2.520

2.055

146

220

12

87

At 31 December 2005

928

928

The aged receivables relate primarily to the waste business (Leysen). As part of the Leysen integration program,
management took initiatives to improve collection of overdue receivables.
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The 2007 and 2006 impairment loss on trade receivables amounted to respectively -117 € (reversal of a
provision) and 150 €.
No impairment loss was incurred during 2005.
Other receivables consist of the following:
2007

2006

2005

1.283

263

12

151

16

47

Grants to collect

1.246

896

776

Trade receivables from associates

1.664

VAT to recover
Current income and withholding taxes to recover

Loan to ENRO AG

650

Other

453

49

21

Total

5.447

1.224

856

2007

2006

2005

3.971

4.602

Contracts under construction consist of the following:

Contract costs incurred
Progress billing on contract costs incurred

-2.771

-271

Total

1.200

4.331

Contract costs incurred relate for an amount of 3.760 € to six cogeneration projects under construction.

Note 11 – Cash and cash equivalents

Cash on hand
Short-term demandable deposits
Total

2007

2006

2005

3.733

2.062

434

46.092

917

13

49.825

2.979

447

Short-term demandable deposits comprised at 31 December 2007 46.080 € deposits maturing between 2
January 2008 and 11 February 2008, yielding 4,4% of interest.
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Note 12 – Share capital
The company’s share capital changed over the last three years as follows :
Thousands of €

Thousands of shares

At 1 January 2005

806

8

Share capital increase of December 2005

875

9

1.681

17

At 31 December 2005
Share capital increase of February 2006
At 31 December 2006

2.178

28

3.859

45

23 April 2007 : multiplication of the number of shares by 100

4.405

Share capital increase of May 2007 (by Theolia SA)

5.628

666

Share capital increase of May 2007

5.004

592

Share capital increase of June 2007

64.996

7.692

Share capital increase Leysen acquisition September 2007

16.000

1.728

Contingent share capital increase Leysen acquisition September 2007

20.000

Share capital increase December 2007 Polargen 49%

4.900

556

Share capital increase December 2007 ENRO acquisition

4.266

474

124.653

16.158

Total share capital at 31 December 2007
Transaction costs directly attributable to capital increase

Thousands of €

At 31 December 2005
Share capital increase of February 2006

-388

At 31 December 2006

-388

Share capital increases of May and June 2007

-9.214

Share capital increases September and December 2007

-203

At 31 December 2007

-9.805

Total share capital net

114.848

The company’s shares are ordinary shares without par value. All shares that have been issued are fully paid
and have the same rights. The holders of Thenergo shares are entitled to dividends in accordance with the
Belgian company law and upon decisions of the shareholders’ meeting.
Following the February 2007 agreement (referred to as « Program of capital increase ») between the company and
Amsterdams Effectenkantoor B.V. (“AEK”), as amended in May 2007, AEK assists the company in raising capital
during a year of maximum five years through share capital increases for a maximum amount of 100.000 €. These
share capital increases can be subscribed by investors proposed by AEK or by AEK itse AGlf. The 5.000 € and
65.000 € private placements of respectively 22 May 2007 and 18 June 2007 at a price of 8,45 € per share are part of
the 100.000 € AEK agreement. It has been agreed that for the remaining 30.000 € share capital that could be raised
in the future with the assistance of AEK, Thenergo will issue warrants (share options) to AEK, or qualified investors
selected by AEK, at a price of 0,01% of the exercise price of the warrants. The exercise price will be determined
as 80% of the weighted (based on volumes) average share price during 90 days before the date of grant. The
AEK commission on share capital increases amounts to 5% of the issuance price of the new shares. Further, AEK
receives a number of warrants that is determined as 25% of the number of shares issued under the Program of
Capital Increase.
Based on the May and June 2007 share capital increases for a total amount of 70.000 € AEK received a
commission of 3.500 € as well as 2.071.006 warrants at a purchase price of 0,0001 € per warrant. These
warrants have an exercise price of 8,45 € (see note 16 Share-based payments).
For more information about the share capital increases with regard to the acquisition of Leysen, Polargen and
ENRO we refer to note 5 Acquisitions of subsidiaries.
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Transactions costs directly attributable to the share capital increases during the year 2007 include share-based
payment expenses for an amount of 5.261 € (see also note 16 Share-based payments).

Note 13 – Borrowings and leases
This note provides information about the contractual terms of the company’s borrowings. For more information
about the company’s exposure to interest rate risk we refer to note 20 Financial instruments – market and
other risks.
Non-current borrowings

Secured bank loans
Unsecured bank loans
Unsecured other loans

2007

2006

2005

22.967

1.933

1.345

862

541

335

65

65

Borrowings

24.164

2.539

1.410

Leases

12.413

2.560

803

Total

36.577

5.099

2.213

2007

2006

2005
215

Current borrowings

Secured bank loans

2.922

503

Unsecured bank loans

4.060

3.317

Secured other loans

816

Unsecured other loans

8

Borrowings
Leases
Total

12

6.990

3.820

1.043

885

231

41

7.875

4.051

1.084

Our cogeneration plants are primarily financed by external borrowings or leases from financial institutions
over a 9 to 10 years period with straight line amortisations. The Leysen acquisition (see note 5 Acquisitions of
subsidiaries) was leveraged by a 10.000 € bank loan maturing in December 2014 and amortising on a straight
line basis starting in March 2009.
The loans with regard to cogeneration installations are typically secured by the cogeneration installations
as well as the working capital of the related project company (see also note 23 Collateral and contractual
commitments for capital expenditures).
Depending on the capital structure of the project company, subordinated loans from the minority shareholders
are provided. These loans are included in the above table under unsecured other loans.
At 31 December 2007 the outstanding borrowings and leases mature as follows :

Secured bank loans

Total

1 year or less

1-2 years

2-5 years

More than 5
years
10.423

25.987

2.922

3.160

9.482

Unsecured bank loans

4.922

4.060

736

80

Unsecured other loans

343

8

Leases
Total
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335

13.298

885

1.077

5.921

5.415

44.550

7.875

4.973

15.483

16.219
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The difference between the total amount of 44.550 € and the total carrying amount in the balance sheet of
44.452 € is explained by 98 € transaction costs directly attributable to the issue of borrowings. These costs are
amortised over the life of the related borrowings.
With the exception of long-term borrowings and leases the carrying amounts of our financial assets and liabilities
corresponds with the estimation of their fair value. It was estimated that the fair value of our outstanding long-term
borrowings was 309 € and 237 € lower at respectively 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2006. For non-current
lease obligations the fair value was estimated to be 432 € and 375 € lower at respectively 31 December 2007 and 31
December 2006. The differences between the carrying amount and the fair value stem from the fact that the reference
interest rate of the borrowings and leases had increased at both 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2006.

Note 14 – Trade and other payables
Trade tables consist of the following :
2007

2006

2005

Accounts payable

12.154

7.038

1.395

Accrued expenses

479

Progress billing regarding contracts under construction

406

295

13.039

7.333

1.395

2007

2006

2005

Current income tax

207

82

VAT payable

405

38

41

Payroll related debt

501

51

20

Dividend payable

490

Total

Other payables can be detailed as follows:

Other

714

4.545

159

Total

2.317

4.716

220

The dividend payable of 490 € relates to Polargen and is payable to the minority shareholders that were
bought out at 30 November 2007 – see also note 5 Acquisitions of subsidiaries. At 31 December 2006 the other
payables of 4.545 € represent a loan from Theolia SA (France) – see also note 22 Related parties.

Note 15 – Payroll and related benefits

Wages and salaries

2007

2006

2005

1.703

556

179

Social security contributions

318

72

37

Other personnel costs

300

221

Pensions and group insurance
Total

13

9

4

2.334

858

220

Other personnel costs relate primarily to management services received as well as recruitment costs.
The average number of full time equivalents can be split as follows:
2007

2006

2005

9

8

7

Subsidiaries

47

2

Average number of full time equivalents

56

10

Thenergo NV (parent company)
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The increase of the average number of full time equivalents at subsidiaries is explained by the September
acquisition of Leysen – see also note 5 Acquisitions of subsidiaries as well as the organic growth of the
cogeneration activities. At 31 December 2007 the company employed 139 full time equivalents. Tse AG
(consolidated as from 1 January 2008) employed 51 people at 31 December 2007.
The low average payroll expense by full time equivalent is explained by significant eliminations of revenues
and related costs (against property, plant and equipment) as well as the capitalisation of directly attributable
expenses to installations under construction.

Note 16 – Share-based payments
Following the raise of capital for a total amount of 70 million € (see note 12 Share capital) 2.071.006 options
(«warrants ») were granted to Amsterdams Effectenkantoor B.V. (“AEK”) with an exercise price of 8,45 €. These
options have vested immediately. Further, key management received 1.545.030 warrants at the same exercise
price of 8,45 €. 40% of these options was vested immediately while 60% vests gradually over a 3,5 year period.
All these options have a contractual life of 5 years (expiring at 30 June 2012).
To stimulate the further growth of the company, key management was granted 490.000 warrants in December
2007. These warrants have the same exercise price and expiration date as the warrants described above. Starting
from the reference point of 113 million € as existing market capitalisation, 70.000 warrants vest each time that the
company’s market capitalisation has increased by 50 million € (based on the weighted average share price during
20 trading days) with the last portion vesting when a market capitalisation of 463 million € is reached.
The fair value of these share-based payment compensations is estimated at grant date, using the binomial
Monte Carlo option pricing model. The weighted average fair value of the options and assumptions used in
applying the valuation model are as follows :
Amounts in € unless otherwise indicated

2007

Fair value of warrants granted

2,78

Share price

8,61

Exercise price

8,45

Expected volatility

41%

Expected dividends
Risk-free interest rate

0%
4,31%

As Thenergo is only listed since June 2007 expected volatility was based on the historical volatility (nonweighted average), calculated by using historical data of the last 250 days of five other companies in the
energy sector. Based on the binomial Monte Carlo model the expected average life of the warrants is 3 years.
Expected dividends were set at zero because Thenergo has never distributed dividends.
The fair value of the warrants granted to AEK amounts to 5.261 €. This amount is considered as a transaction
cost directly attributable to the share capital (see also note 12 Share capital). The fair value of the warrants
granted to key management and vested immediately amounts to 1.650 € while the total fair value of the
warrants expensed over their vesting period amounts to 4.522 €. The 2007 operating expense of 1.880 € with
regard to the above described warrants is net, after capitalisation of direct costs related to installations built or
under construction for a total amount of 754 €.
During the beginning of the year 2008 380.716 warrants were granted to new members of key management.
These warrants have the same exercise price and expiration date as the warrants described above. The
warrants vest gradually over the years 2008 – 2010 and will be expensed as from 2008 accordingly. The total
fair value of the 380.716 warrants granted was estimated at 1.431 €.
At 31 December 2007 2.764.300 warrants were exercisable. No warrants were forfeited or exercised during
2007.

56 | Annual Report 2007

56 | All amounts in thousands of €, unless explicitly stated differently.

Note 17 – Other operating expenses
Other operating expenses can be detailed as follows :
2007

2006

PR, communication and marketing

659

41

Usage, office and utility costs

606

61

Accounting, reporting and tax compliance support

212

74

Repair and maintenance

219

21

Impairment charges

2005

15

-117

150

Rent

191

79

Travel expenses

181

61

Audit fees

229

87

Insurance

135

19

87

Other

153

9

196

2.468

602

349

Total

51

The increase in the other operating expenses is primarily explained by the growth of the company and the
listing of its shares since June 2007 on Alternext. Utility costs comprise mainly the cost of fuel in the waste
collection business.
The 2006 impairment charge of 150 € related to a doubtful debtor which was collected during 2007.
The 2005 other expenses relate primarily to management services which were in the 2006 and 2007 income
statement presented as part of personnel costs.
The total amount of future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases amounted to
836 € at 31 December 2007 of which 88 € due within one year and 396 € due later than five years. No significant
non-cancellable operating leases were outstanding at 31 December 2006 or 31 December 2005.
Audit fees in relation to the statutory audit mandate of the auditor amounted to 43 € in 2007. The audit fees
for the audit of the group’s consolidated financial statements under IFRS amounted to 126 € in 2007. The nonaudit fees provided by the auditor and his network in 2007 amounted to 419 €, related to other rendered
services, mainly additional audit services in the framework of the company’s listing on Alternext (177 €) and
limited review procedures as of 30 June 2007 (60 €), acquisition due diligence procedures  (146 €), various legal
missions in the framework of capital increases (18 €) and tax related services (18 €). The majority of these nonaudit services have been pre-approved by the audit committee.

Note 18 – Finance costs and income
Finance costs can be detailed as follows :
2007

2006

2005

Interest expense on borrowings

508

148

93

Interest expense on leases

241

120

46

29

5

3

Other finance costs
Profit sharing arrangements

169

Change in fair value of interest rate swaps not designated in a hedge accounting relationship
Change in fair value of electricity forward sale contracts not designated in a hedge accounting relationship
Total

45
382
1.329

273

187

If the electricity market prices at 31 December 2007 would have been 20% higher the cost from the change
in fair value of electricity forward sale contracts not designated in a cash flow hedge accounting relationship
would have been higher by 251 €.
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No borrowing costs were capitalised during 2005-2007.
Finance income comprises the following :
2007
Interest income

2006

2005

1.070

78

2

Government grants related to interest expense

110

85

39

Interest charged to customers as part of the pre-financing of cogeneration projects

187

Gains on hedging instruments that are not part of a hedge accounting relationship

20

Other finance income
Total

208

7

7

1.394

378

41

The 2007 interest income of 1.070 € was primarily generated by the company’s short-term demandable
deposits – see also note 11 Cash and cash equivalents. The weighted average interest rate amounted to 4,2%.
If this interest rate would have been 100 basis points higher the interest income would have been higher by
232 €.
The 2006 gains on hedging instruments that are not part of a hedge accounting relationship of 208 € relate to
the electricity forward contracts outstanding at 31 December 2006 – see also note 20 Financial instruments –
Market and other risks.

Note 19 – Income taxes

Expense/(benefit) current taxes
Expense/(benefit) deferred taxes
Total expense/(benefit) income taxes

Current taxes of the year

2007

2006

128

16

2005

-1.755

188

-276

-1.627

204

-276

2007

2006

2005

128

29

-1.755

188

-276

-1.627

204

-276

Adjustments current taxes prior years

-13

Deferred income taxes on the increase or reversal of temporary differences
Total expense/(benefit) income taxes

The reconciliation of the aggregated weighted nominal tax rate with the effective tax rate can be summarised
as follows :

Result before tax
Share of result of associates

2007

2006

2005

-769

272

-318

227

102

Result before tax and before share of result of associates

-996

170

Aggregated weighted nominal tax rate

31%

34%

-318
34%

Tax at aggregated weighted nominal tax rate

-309

58

-108

235

214

Reconciling items :

Losses for which no deferred tax asset was recognised
Elimination of intercompany profits

-638

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes

129
-136

654

9

Notional interest on equity

-718

-7

Tax credits for capital expenditures

-915

-52

64

-18

-25

-1.627

204

-276

Other
Income tax expense/(benefit) recognised in the income statement

-136

The lower aggregated weighted nominal tax rate of 31% for 2007 stems from the weight of the profit realised
by the Dutch entities for which the nominal tax rate is 25,5% compared to 34% for the Belgian entities.
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The effect of non deductible expenses in 2007 of 654 € relates primarily to share-based payment expenses
which are not tax deductible. Mainly thanks to the 2007 share capital increases of Thenergo NV (see also note
12 Share capital) the company benefited from a 718 € notional interest rate deduction during 2007.
Assets
Carrying values
Balance at 1 January
Increase / (decrease) through profit or loss

2006

2005

2007

244

313

37

1.774

276

-164

1.591

-188

Acquisitions

627

119

Increase / (decrease) through equity

126

Balance at 31 December

Liabilities

2007

962

2006

2005

1.774

9

2.588

244

313

2.581

Assets

1.774

Liabilities

Origin of the deferred taxes at balance sheet date

2007

2006

2005

2007

2006

2005

Temporary differences

1.531

112

154

3.032

1.852

2

Other financial assets
Property, plant and equipment

16
1.081

25

Intangible assets

239

87

Investments

112

2
812

138

2.097

Contracts under construction
Financial instruments

1.774

72
99

43

Other

78

8

Unused tax losses and tax credits

1.508

210

161

Gross deferred taxes

3.039

322

315

3.032

1.852

2

-451

-78

-2

-451

-78

-2

2.588

244

313

2.581

1.774

Offsetting between assets and liabilities
Net deferred taxes recognised

Deferred tax assets not recognised

2007

2006

Deductible temporary differences

1.363

151

Tax losses and credits
Total

2005

1.088

544

274

2.451

695

274

The deductible temporary differences for which no deferred tax assets were recognised relate primarily to
transaction costs of the share capital increases. Tax losses carried forward do not have an expiration date.

Note 20 – Financial instruments – Market and other risks
Interest rate risk
Due to the capital intensive nature of the company’s activities Thenergo has substantial borrowings and
leases outstanding as disclosed in note 13 Borrowings and leases above. Interest rates on the long-term
borrowings for cogeneration plants are fixed either directly in the finance contract or via interest rate swaps.
At 31 December 2007 the fixed interest rates applicable on the outstanding borrowings and leases ranged
between 3,7% and 6,5%.
At 31 December 2007 the company had one interest rate swap outstanding which is accounted for at fair value
through the income statement. The carrying amount of this swap was 26 € (6 € at 31 December 2006) resulting
in a 2007 gain on hedging instruments that are not part of a hedge accounting relationship of 20 € – see also
note 18 Finance costs and income.
Spark spread
The company is exposed to the volatility of the electricity and natural gas prices. For the cogeneration plants
fuelled by natural gas the spark spread is mitigated through the correlation of gas prices with electricity prices. To
manage the volatility of electricity prices and natural gas, purchase prices of natural gas are fixed with vendors
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on a six to twelve months basis. Further, the company hedges its highly probable sales of electricity on a 3 to
15 months basis through electricity forward sales contracts. Total monthly MWh hedged ranges between 7.700
and 5.000 for the first nine months of 2008 and is around 3.000 for the last three months of 2008. These hedges
allow the company to fix the revenue from planned production while having the flexibility from the decentralised
installations to produce more electricity than initially planned when market conditions are favourable.
During the second half of 2007 Thenergo implemented cash flow hedge accounting for these contracts to the
extent that the strict hedge accounting rules were met. For the first nine months of 2008, between 65% and
94% of the planned monthly MWh production was designated in the hedge accounting relationship. For the
last quarter of 2008 the percentage of monthly production hedged ranges between 34% and 43%. Under the
cash flow hedge accounting documentation (a portion of) the electricity forward contracts is designated as
the hedging instrument. The hedged risk are the cash flows from the highly probable sales during the periods
covered by the hedging instruments.
The fair value of the forward contracts was based on the contractual terms by applying the published ENDEX
Futures Exchange power prices for Belgium and the Netherlands or obtaining market quotes from external
parties in the case no published ENDEX prices are available. In calculating the fair values, counterparty credit
risk was ignored.
The outstanding electricity forward contracts were included in the other current assets and other current
liabilities as follows :
2007
Part of a cash flow hedge accounting relationship

2006

At fair value through the income statement

168

231

Total included in other current assets

270

231

2007

2006

Part of a cash flow hedge accounting relationship

2005

102

2005

371

At fair value through the income statement

263

46

Total included in other current liabilities

634

46

The difference between the change in fair value through the income statement based on the above (cost of
326 €) and the cost recognised in the income statement of 382 € is explained by the fact that the above balance
sheet data includes Groeikracht de Markvallei NV while this company was accounted for under the equity
method until 28 December 2007 – see also note 5 Acquisitions of subsidiaries.
The above described hedge accounting resulted in the recognition of a loss (after taxes) of 152 € in the hedge
accounting reserve – see also the statement of changes in equity. During 2007 no results were released from
the hedge accounting reserve to the income statement because all the contracts relate to highly probable
sales of electricity during 2008.
Prospective hedge effectiveness is based on the planned production of electricity : the hedge accounting
relationships are considered to be effective as long as the designated hedged volume of electricity is below
the planned production volume for the related period. Retrospective hedge effectiveness will for the first time
be calculated during 2008 (on a quarterly basis) by using daily production data of electricity. As long as at least
90% of the designated KWh have actually been sold the hedge accounting relationship is considered to be
effective.
The 2007 revenue from electricity sales was negatively impacted by the settlement of electricity forward
contracts not part of a hedge accounting relationship for 102 €. For the year 2006 the impact of the settlement
of electricity forward contracts not part of a hedge accounting relationship was positive for an amount of 261 €
(-170 € for 2005).
As regards our biomass installation operating during the years 2005 – 2007 the spark spread is management by
(i) using the same index for the purchase of the biomass and the sale of the heat and (ii) fixing the sales price
of the electricity produced in a long-term contract ending during the second half of 2008.
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Liquidity risk
Each project company has its own external financing of on average 80% of the total investment. Sourcing
of external financing is done from different credit institutions. Budgeted cash flows cover the amounts due
under to borrowings and leases over the life of the project. Overall, the strong cash position of 49.825 € at 31
December 2007 mitigates the company’s liquidity risk while providing Thenergo with the necessary flexibility
for future projects.
Credit risk
Credit risk encompasses all forms of counterparty exposure, i.e. where counterparties may default on their
obligation to pay Thenergo. Revenue from electricity sales and certificates is collected from prime utility
companies on a monthly basis. Revenue from heat is collected from our greenhouse and industrial partners
while the customers in our waste business range from small private companies to government institutions.
The company monitors counterparty credit exposures closely and recently started working capital initiatives
to improve collection of aged receivables.
Based on these factors, Thenergo considers the risk of counterparty default per 31 December 2007 to be limited.
Other risks
The profitability of the company is highly dependent on government incentives with regard to the production
of renewable energy. While the sustainability of existing government incentives is not within management’s
control, we are not aware of any reasonably possible changes to the government incentives based on which
the profitability of the company would be significantly deteriorated.
Heat revenue is subject to a limited seasonality as the heat procurement from the greenhouse partners in
cold periods is higher then in warm periods. About 15% of revenue from waste management is also subject
to seasonality : in warm periods more containers are used on worksites as compared to cold periods or
wintertime.
Capital management
As a fast growing company Thenergo is undergoing significant changes to its capital structure. After the May/
June 2007 share capital increases totalling 75.628 € (see note 12 Share capital) Thenergo attracted external
financing in executing its strategic plan of both organic and external growth. On average, cogeneration projects
are leveraged by debt financing for 80% of the investment. When analysing our capital structure we use the
same debt/equity classifications as applied in our IFRS reporting.
Thenergo believes that a sound capital structure is of utmost importance in the sector in which it operates
and will therefore continue to strive to keep an optimal capital structure throughout the different stages of
its growth. In its current growth phase, Thenergo believes it is important to have access to a reasonable cash
buffer in order to be able to respond to interesting investment opportunities with respect to its business
without being fully depending on access to financial debt markets which, in the recent past, have proven to
be volatile.
Each project company has its specific capital requirements as agreed with our financial partners and required
by company law. Thenergo NV is not subject to any substantial capital requirements.
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Note 21 – Earnings per share
2007

2006

-60

-284

-158

9.885.381

4.033.000

829.500

-0,01

-0,07

-0,19

Basic earnings per share
Result of the year attributable to equity holders of Thenergo (thousands of €)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
Basic earnings per share (€)

2005

The dilutive weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during 2007 amounts to 9.983.907. The
potential ordinary shares are antidilutive because their conversion to ordinary shares would decrease the loss
per share. Consequently, the diluted earnings per share equal the basic earnings per share.

Note 22 – Related parties
Transactions with associates
Thenergo’s transactions with associates can be summarised as follows:
2007
Revenue
Finance income
Other receivables
Other payables

2006

2005

3.174
189
1.664
32

The revenue realised with associates relates primarily to concept engineering for new cogeneration projects.
The summarised financial data of our associates is as follows :
Balance sheet
Non-current assets
Current assets
Total assets
Equity
Non-current liabilities

2007

2006

16.031

11.136

5.312

5.472

21.343

16.608

2.095

2.514

12.533

9.772

Current liabilities

6.715

4.322

Total liabilities

21.343

16.608

Income statement

2007

2006

Revenues

5.024

476

Operating result

1.353

211

Financial result

-1.340

312

737

404

Result of the year

2005

2005

Transactions with Board and Executive Committee members (key management personnel)
In addition to short-term employee benefits (primarily salaries) Thenergo’s key management personnel is
eligible for the company’s warrant program (see also note 16 Share-based Payments). Total Board members
and Executive committee members remuneration can be detailed as follows:
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2007

2005

Executive
committee

Board
members

Executive
committee

80

303

139

80

303

139

Short-term employee benefits

101

1.122

1.220

1.414

1.321

2.536

Share-based payments
Total

2006

Board
members

Board
members

Executive
committee

The increase of the short-term employee benefits reflects the company’s growth. As regards share-based
payments we refer to note 16 Share-based payments.
The company had a total debt towards executive committee members outstanding of 609 € of which 490 €
relates to the Polargen dividend – see also note 14 Trade and other payables.
Transactions with Theolia SA
Theolia SA is a public French company that was the majority shareholder of Thenergo until its listing on
Alternext in June 2007. At 31 December 2007 Theolia SA held 29% of the Thenergo shares.
At 31 December 2006 Thenergo had a loan outstanding from Theolia SA of 4.545 € which was increased to
5.628 € during the first half of 2007. This loan was reimbursed in May 2007 following Thenergo’s share capital
increase. The total interest charge on this intercompany financing amounted to 119 €.
On 29 June 2007 and 30 July 2007 Thenergo granted short-term loans of respectively 400 € and 900 € to Theolia
SA which were reimbursed 30 November 2007. Interest income on these loans amounts to 30 €.
All related party transactions were made at arm’s length.

Note 23 – Collateral and contractual commitments for capital expenditures
Borrowings and leases with regard to cogeneration installations are typically secured by the cogeneration
installations as well as the working capital of the related project company. The carrying amount of property,
plant and equipment securing outstanding borrowings and leases amounted to 24.464 € at 31 December 2007
and 6.934 € at 31 December 2006. The carrying amount of working capital items collateralised amounted to
9.683 € and 2.508 € at respectively 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2006.
The company’s contractual commitments for capital expenditures relate primarily to cogeneration installations
and plants under construction. At 31 December 2007 the total capital expenditure commitment for these
installations and plants under construction amounted to 22.991 €. As disclosed in note 20 Financial instruments
– Market and other risks 80% of the capital expenditures is financed by borrowings or leases.

Note 24 – Events after the balance sheet date
In March 2008 the company announced it has commenced development of a 9 MWe CHP bio-oil to energy
plant in Merksplas (Belgium). The project will be operational for up to 8.000 hours per year, generating 6 MWth
of heat for two industrial partners, and 9 MWe of electricity for the equivalent of 20.000 households. The project,
named Greenpower and representing a total investment of 11 million €, is expected to become operational in
February 2009. Greenpower is a joint venture between Thenergo, the majority shareholder and operator, and
the Quirynen and the Dielis families.
Further, the launch of a new CHP project in Meer, Hoogstraten, named ‘Binergy Meer’ was announced in
March 2008. The project will generate between 6,5 and 25 MWe of renewable electricity and similar amounts
of renewable heat. The project will be built in several phases due to the need to modify the local grid to inject
the generated electricity. The current available injection capacity will allow 6,5 MWe of electricity generation. In
a second phase, extensions are planned to extend generation capacity to 13 and to 25 MWe. Binergy Meer, a
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fully owned project, will represent an initial investment of 28,5 million €, rising to at least 50 million € if 25 MWe
capacity is reached. It is fully permitted, with construction expected to start September 2008. The plant should
be operational in the fourth quarter of 2009 with the potential to deliver between 52.000 and 200.000 MWh of
electricity covering the needs of 15.000 to 55.000 households.

Note 25 – List of subsidiaries and investments in associates
The main subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial statements are:
% economic
interest

% voting
power

Belgium

75,00%

75,00%

Cogeneration based on biogas – under construction

Biocogen BVBA

Belgium

50,00%

50,00%

Cogeneration based on biogas

Groeikracht Boechout NV

Belgium

95,54%

95,54%

Cogeneration based on natural gas

Cintras NV

Belgium

100%

100%

Groeikracht de Boskapel NV

Belgium

51,56%

51,56%

Leysen NV

Belgium

100%

100%

Waste

Groeikracht de Markvallei NV

Belgium

100%

100%

Cogeneration based on natural gas

Groeikracht Marveco NV

Belgium

50,79%

50,79%

Cogeneration based on natural gas

Groeikracht Merksplas NV

Belgium

100%

100%

Cogeneration based on natural gas

Groeikracht Pierstraat NV

Belgium

51,00%

51,00%

Cogeneration based on natural gas

Polargen BVBA

Belgium

100%

100%

Design and operation of cogeneration projects

Polargen Holding BV

The Netherlands

100%

100%

Holding

Groeikracht Prinsenland BV

The Netherlands

95%

95%

Valmass NV

Belgium

60,00%

60,00%

Cogeneration based on biogas and biomass
– under construction

Groeikracht Wommelgem BVBA

Belgium

51,13%

51,13%

Cogeneration based on natural gas

Groeikracht Zwarthout NV

Belgium

100%

100%

Cogeneration based on natural gas

Name

Country

Binergy Ieper NV

Activity

Fuel
Cogeneration based on natural gas

Cogeneration based on natural gas
– under construction

When Thenergo’s voting power is around 50% it is assessed whether based on other factors (e.g. management
contracts in place) the company actually controls the financial and operating policy decisions of the project
company. When this is the case, the project company is fully consolidated.
The main investments in associates accounted for under the equity method are the following:
Name

Country

% economic
interest

% voting
power

Activity

Groeikracht Lierbaan NV

Belgium

30,21%

30,21%

Cogeneration based on natural gas

Groeikracht Rielbro NV

Belgium

30,16%

30,16%

Cogeneration based on natural gas

Groeikracht Meer NV

Belgium

30,00%

30,00%

Cogeneration based on natural gas

Groeikracht Waver NV

Belgium

30,48%

30,48%

Cogeneration based on natural gas

Groeikracht de Blackt NV

Belgium

29,92%

29,92%

Cogeneration based on natural gas

Groeikracht Bûtenpôle BV

The Netherlands

30,00%

30,00%

Cogeneration based on natural gas

Groeikracht Broechem NV

Belgium

25,00%

25,00%

Cogeneration based on natural gas

Groeikracht Vremde NV

Belgium

28,57%

28,57%

Cogeneration based on natural gas

Groeikracht Marvado NV

Belgium

29,97%

29,97%

Cogeneration based on natural gas

Groeikracht Etten-Leur BV

The Netherlands

30,00%

30,00%

Cogeneration based on natural gas
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3. Independent auditors’ report
T henergo N V
S TAT U T O RY A U D I T O R ’ S R E P O R T T O T H E S H A R E H O L D E R S ’ M E E T I N G
on the consolidated financial statements
F O R T H E Y E A R E N D E D 3 1 D ecember 2 0 0 7

To the shareholders
As required by law and the company’s articles of association, we are pleased to report to you on the audit
assignment which you have entrusted to us. This report includes our opinion on the consolidated financial
statements together with the required additional comment.
Unqualified audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Thenergo NV (“the company”) and
its subsidiaries (jointly “the group”), prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
as adopted by the European Union and with the legal and regulatory requirements applicable in Belgium.
Those consolidated financial statements comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2007,
the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
cash flow statement for the year then ended, as well as the summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory notes. The consolidated balance sheet shows total assets of 186.047 (000) EUR and the
consolidated income statement shows a consolidated profit for the year then ended of 858 (000) EUR.
The financial statements of several significant entities included in the scope of consolidation which represent
total assets of 16.957 (000) EUR and a total profit/(loss) of 82 (000) EUR have been audited by other auditors.
Our opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements, insofar as it relates to the amounts
contributed by those entities, is based upon the reports of those other auditors.
The board of directors of the company is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements. This responsibility includes among other things: designing, implementing and maintaining internal
control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies,
and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with legal requirements and auditing standards applicable in Belgium, as
issued by the “Institut des Reviseurs d’Entreprises/Instituut der Bedrijfsrevisoren”. Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the consolidated financial statements
are free from material misstatement.
In accordance with these standards, we have performed procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts
and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we have considered internal control relevant
to the group’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design
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audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the group’s internal control. We have assessed the basis of the accounting policies used,
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the company and the presentation of the consolidated
financial statements, taken as a whole. Finally, the board of directors and responsible officers of the company
have replied to all our requests for explanations and information. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained, together with the reports of other auditors on which we have relied, provides a reasonable basis for
our opinion.
In our opinion, and based upon the reports of other auditors, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the group’s financial position as of 31 December 2007, and of its results and its cash flows for
the year then ended, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU and
with the legal and regulatory requirements applicable in Belgium.
Additional comment
The preparation and the assessment of the information that should be included in the directors’ report on the
consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the board of directors.
Our responsibility is to include in our report the following additional comment which does not change the
scope of our audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements:
•

The directors’ report on the consolidated financial statements includes the information required by law
and is in agreement with the consolidated financial statements. However, we are unable to express an
opinion on the description of the principal risks and uncertainties confronting the group, or on the status,
future evolution, or significant influence of certain factors on its future development. We can, nevertheless,
confirm that the information given is not in obvious contradiction with any information obtained in the
context of our appointment.

Diegem, 23 April 2008

The statutory auditor
DELOITTE Bedrijfsrevisoren / Reviseurs d’Entreprises
BV o.v.v.e. CVBA / SC s.f.d. SCRL
Represented by Gert Vanhees

All amounts in thousands of €, unless explicitly stated differently. 67

|

www.thenergo.eu | 67

Excerpt

from the Thenergo NV separate (non-consolidated) financial statements
prepared in accordance with Belgian GAAP

The following information is extracted from the separate Belgian GAAP financial statements of Thenergo NV.
These separate financial statements, together with the management report of the board of directors to the
general assembly of shareholders as well as the auditors’ report, will be filed with the National Bank of Belgium
within the legally foreseen time limits. These documents are also available on request at Thenergo NV, Avenue
Louise 505, 1050 Brussels.
It should be noted that only the consolidated financial statements as set forth above present a true and
fair view of the financial position and performance of the Thenergo group. Since Thenergo NV has important
investments which are measured at cost in the non-consolidated financial statements, these separate financial
statements present no more than a limited view of the financial position of Thenergo NV. For this reason,
the board of directors deemed it appropriate to publish only an abbreviated version of the non-consolidated
balance sheets and income statements prepared in accordance with Belgian GAAP as at and for the years
ended 31 December 2007, 31 December 2006 and 31 December 2005.
The statutory auditor’s report is unqualified and certifies that the non-consolidated financial statements of
Thenergo NV prepared in accordance with Belgian GAAP for the year ended 31 December 2007 give a true
and fair view of the financial position and results of Thenergo NV in accordance with all legal and regulatory
dispositions.
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Abbreviated non-consolidated balance sheets of Thenergo NV

thousands of €

2007

2006

2005

50.888

6.336

822

4.011

445

149

436

41

35

Financial assets

46.441

5.850

638

Current assets

56.015

2.207

561

9.922

1.444

310

46.093

763

251

Total assets

106.903

8.543

1.383

Equity

104.737

2.151

990

104.653

3.859

1681

84

-1.708

-691

Non-current assets
Incorporation expenses and intangibles
Property, plant and equipment

Other current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Share capital
Retained earnings
Non-current liabilities

4

Current liabilities
Total equity and liabilities

2.166

6.392

389

106.903

8.543

1.383

Abbreviated non-consolidated income statements of Thenergo NV

thousands of €

2007

2006

2005

3.019

997

1.478

2.973

956

1591

46

41

-113

3.931

1.824

1.908

Operating result

-912

-827

-430

Financial result

2.704

20

-27

Finance income

2.835

43

6

131

23

33

210

13

Operating income
Revenues
Other income
Operating expenses

Finance costs
Extraordinary charges
Result before tax

1.792

-1.017

-470

Result of the year

1.792

-1.017

-470
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Notes
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